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● (1100)

[English]
The Chair (Mr. John Brassard (Barrie—Innisfil, CPC)):

Good morning, everyone.
[Translation]

I call this meeting to order.

Welcome to meeting number 122 of the House of Commons
Standing Committee on Access to Information, Privacy and Ethics.
[English]

Pursuant to Standing Order 108(3)(h) and the motion adopted by
the committee on Tuesday, May 7, the committee is commencing
its study of compliance of a minister to the Conflict of Interest Act.

Before I begin, I want to remind everyone again about the ear‐
pieces. Make sure that when they're not in use, they are on the
stickers that are on the table, so that we don't have feedback for the
interpreters as well.

I want to thank everyone for their co-operation.

I also want to state that all of the interventions are to go through
the chair this morning. I want to make sure there is enough time for
answers and questions.

I don't want any interactions where we have two people speaking
at the same time. I'm going to give an equal amount of time to the
questioners and to the minister to respond. I don't want people
jumping in. We have to be mindful of interpretation, not the least of
which is the fact that the right information is getting interpreted, but
also, again, to further protect our interpreters from any potential in‐
jury.

With that being said, I want to welcome the Honourable Randy
Boissonnault, minister, who is appearing for the first hour.

Mr. Boissonnault, you have up to five minutes to address the
committee.

Please go ahead, sir.
Mr. Parm Bains (Steveston—Richmond East, Lib.): I have a

point of order, Mr. Chair. I have a quick question.
The Chair: Go ahead on your point of order.
Mr. Parm Bains: Before we begin, I have a quick question re‐

garding the question of privilege motion that was being debated last
meeting.

Page 154 in the third edition of House of Commons Procedure
and Practice clearly outlines the process by which a question of
privilege is dealt with at committee. In the interest of time, we'll
forgo a recap of everything that transpired up to this point. I'll also
not read the entire passage, but I want to highlight one line, which
is, “The motion is debatable and amendable, and will have priority
of consideration in the committee.”

In my opinion, debate on that motion should have superseded the
agenda today. However, out of respect for our witness and other
committee members, I will abide by the agenda as published.

My question for you, sir, is this: Will you provide the opportuni‐
ty for debate to continue on the question of privilege motion at
Thursday's meeting?

The Chair: Why don't we get through this and then I can answer
that at the end of today's meeting. I'll leave a little bit of time with
the minister and I'll let you know what the plan is.

Is that fair enough?

Mr. Parm Bains: Thank you.

The Chair: Minister Boissonnault, you have up to five minutes
to address the committee.

Go ahead, sir.

Hon. Randy Boissonnault (Minister of Employment, Work‐
force Development and Official Languages): Thanks very much,
Mr. Chair.

I'm happy to be here at committee to address the innuendo and
misinformation that has been spread by the opposition over the last
few weeks.

Mr. Chair, it's the nature of partisan politics that we have vigor‐
ous and even fiery debates. It's the job of the opposition to hold the
government to account. I understand this dynamic and I respect it.
However, even the rhetoric of a hyperpartisan Conservative Party
needs to at least take into account the actual facts of a situation.

Let's begin with an essential fact. Canada has one of the strictest
ethics regimes in the world for elected officials and that is exactly
what Canadians expect. I have always conducted myself in an ethi‐
cal manner that follows the spirit and the letter of those rules.
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On that note, I am grateful to the Conflict of Interest and Ethics
Commissioner for reviewing the claims made by Mr. Barrett and
the media, and for the commissioner's conclusion that there is no
need for his office to look into this matter further. The impartial, in‐
dependent and non-partisan body in charge of the rules has made its
decision. That should be respected.
● (1105)

[Translation]

On that note, I am grateful to the Conflict of Interest and Ethics
Commissioner for reviewing the claims made by Mr. Barrett and
the media, and for his conclusion that there is no need for his office
to look into this matter further. The impartial, independent and
non‑partisan body in charge of the rules has made its decision and
that should be respected.

I have always fulfilled my obligations under the Conflict of In‐
terest Act, and I have worked with the Office of the Conflict of In‐
terest Commissioner. When I was elected in 2021 and appointed to
cabinet, I began the process of organizing my professional affairs in
accordance with the Conflict of Interest Act.

[English]

Working with the commissioner's office, I placed my company,
Xennex, and a numbered company that holds investments, under
the management of a third party, as required by the act.

To act as the third party, I chose Ms. Kirsten Poon, who, in addi‐
tion to being a former employee, has also been a friend of mine for
more than a decade and was a person I trusted to manage things.
My past business and personal relationship with Ms. Poon was, and
continues to be, reported to the Ethics Commissioner's office, as re‐
quired by the act.

I would also note that since my election, Xennex has ceased day-
to-day operations and Ms. Poon acts, effectively, as an administra‐
tor for the companies to ensure that needed tax filing and other pa‐
perwork are filed.

Despite innuendo to the contrary, I am not a lobbyist. I have nev‐
er been a lobbyist and I have never had any interest in being a lob‐
byist.

[Translation]

In fall 2021, as part of the finalization of my affairs as a private
citizen, my lawyer informed Global Health Imports Corporation, or
GHI, that I was leaving my position as a director. As stated in the
Global News articles, it is the responsibility of a company to update
the relevant federal and provincial trade records in the event of a
change in director. However, since this was not done in a timely
manner, my lawyer submitted the necessary update to ensure that
the situation has been resolved, which is reflected in both registries.
Since being elected, I have had no role in the operations of GHI. I
have no idea of the financial or operational situation of this compa‐
ny or any of Mr. Anderson's ongoing commercial ventures.

[English]

I would now like to turn to the misinformation that some Conser‐
vatives have been trying to spread regarding these circumstances.

First, there has been much innuendo about the fact that Edmon‐
ton International Airport, which was a former client, had meetings
with staff in other ministers' offices and also received grants from
the Department of Transportation and PrairiesCan since I took of‐
fice.

I want to be clear. I in no way facilitated such meetings. I would
also note that the Edmonton International Airport is the fifth-largest
airport in the country as well as a major hub for the movement of
goods and people.
[Translation]

Second, it was noted that over the past two years, I had received
revenue from Navis Group, owned by Kirsten Poon. Mr. Chair, I
must say that this is already known, because I disclosed these rev‐
enues to the Conflict of Interest and Ethics Commissioner and then
in my public statement, in accordance with the rules.

I also clarified that the revenues I received and disclosed were all
for work I did between 2019 and 2021 as a private citizen. None of
that revenue comes from work done since I took office, and none of
it is related to the lobbying work done by Ms. Poon's company.
[English]

It comes as no surprise to me, Mr. Chair, that the Conservatives
have tried to double down on innuendo and misdirection to try to
distract from all of these facts. It appears, unfortunately, to be a de‐
liberate attempt to mislead Canadians by portraying what has been
fully disclosed to the Ethics Commissioner as scandalous, when no
such scandal exists. For them, following the rules, being open and
transparent, meeting all the obligations and having the Ethics Com‐
missioner see no need to evaluate my business affairs are simply in‐
convenient obstacles that can get in the way of a social media clip.

Let's move on to questions, Mr. Chair, after which I'll get straight
back to work serving Edmontonians, Albertans and all Canadians.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Boissonnault.

Before I go to Mr. Barrett, I'm going to remind you, sir, that you
are here today because of a motion that was passed by a majority of
members on this committee.

Mr. Barrett, you have six minutes. Go ahead.
Mr. Michael Barrett (Leeds—Grenville—Thousand Islands

and Rideau Lakes, CPC): Minister, there's fraud and there's an‐
other Randy in a “partner call” at your company. What is the other
Randy's last name?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Barrett, I do not know the name
of that person, as I stated in my opening statements before at com‐
mittee. I have no operational role with GHI. I do not know that per‐
son in question. That person is not me.
● (1110)

Mr. Michael Barrett: What is your percentage stake in the com‐
pany?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: As has been disclosed in my disclo‐
sure to the Ethics Commissioner, a 50% stake in GHI is held by my
holding company.

Mr. Michael Barrett: Who are the partners of the company?
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Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I do not know.

Mr. Anderson, to my knowledge, is the only administrator of that
company.

I have no connection other than holding the shares to that compa‐
ny, Mr. Barrett.

Mr. Michael Barrett: You're holding half of the shares.
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Half of the shares are in my num‐

bered company, as disclosed to the Ethics Commissioner.
Mr. Michael Barrett: Do you know who holds the balance of

the shares?
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: When I was involved, the last time I

looked, it was Mr. Anderson.
Mr. Michael Barrett: It's your understanding that you, Randy

Boissonnault, and Mr. Anderson are fifty-fifty partners in the com‐
pany.

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: That is not correct.

The shares are held by 2256956 Alberta Ltd.
Mr. Michael Barrett: Who owns that numbered company?
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I do.
Mr. Michael Barrett: That's cute.
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: It's not cute, Mr. Barrett. It is—
Mr. Michael Barrett: There's a question about this other Randy

that's been reported.

I know the contention, sir, is that you'd like for this to be some‐
thing that the opposition has created, but this has been reported in
the media. The media has uncovered a number of things, including
text message exchanges with someone who's named by one of your
partners as a partner, and who they refer to as “Randy”. No last
name of that Randy is available. The only Randy we know who's
involved with the company is a minister in the Trudeau govern‐
ment.

Who were the partners in that company in 2022?
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I do not have that information, Mr.

Barrett.

Let me correct the record, Mr. Chair, on the question. I'll go
through you, Mr. Chair.

I am not the person in those texts. Mr. Anderson confirmed that
it's not me.

I have a quote from the article that you're talking about, Mr. Bar‐
rett, which is from the Ghaoui Group. It reads, “We have had no di‐
rect communication with Mr. Boissonnault at any point in our deal‐
ings with Stephen and the companies,” because I have had no ac‐
tive role in GHI since I was elected in 2021.

Mr. Michael Barrett: Okay. You said publicly you didn't have
anything to do with Stephen Anderson's business deals on behalf of
your PPE company, Global Health Imports. Is that right?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I have had no active role in GHI
since I was elected, and, Mr. Barrett, you said yourself in your
question this morning—

Mr. Michael Barrett: Related to deals that—

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Chair, may I answer?

Mr. Michael Barrett: Chair, I gave—

The Chair: Hang on a second. Let's stop the clock.

Mr. Michael Barrett: Okay.

The Chair: I'm going to ask Mr. Barrett to continue. He has an‐
other question.

Minister, prepare for an answer.

Go ahead.

Mr. Michael Barrett: On the way the meeting is going to run, I
gave Mr. Boissonnault more than twice the amount of time to re‐
spond to both of my previous questions than I spent asking the
questions. If I have a short question and the minister wants to run
the clock, that's obviously not going to demonstrate fairness in the
proceedings.

The Chair: I think I made it pretty clear at the top of the meet‐
ing, Mr. Barrett, that my expectation today is that as members ask
questions, an equal amount of time is going to be given for those
responses.

Minister, I ask that all members respect that.

I'm not going to be the timekeeper here, other than the six min‐
utes, but if I see that a member is going a little bit off in terms of
time, then I will intervene.

Mr. Barrett.

Mr. Michael Barrett: How much time do I have?

The Chair: You have three minutes and 16 seconds.

Mr. Michael Barrett: Related to deals with the Ghaoui Group,
you didn't have anything to do with the alleged wire fraud?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Barrett, I have been very clear
that I have had no operational dealings with GHI since I was elect‐
ed, and you, sir, indicated at the start that the “Randy” in the article
was not me.

Mr. Michael Barrett: That company alleges that you were in‐
volved. Are they telling the truth?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: They're not correct, because I've had
no correspondence from them. Mr. Anderson indicates very clearly
in this morning's article that that “Randy” is not me.

Mr. Michael Barrett: We have text messages implicating you,
sir, in this wire fraud, and it was carried out by your business part‐
ner to the tune of hundreds of thousands of dollars.
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One of them reads, “What is going on? I just received this from
Randy. It’s 13:14 MST and 15:14 EST. It literally takes 10 seconds
to complete a transfer. I'm telling you we are not allocating like
this. Please reach out and see what the reason is now. You assured
me this was done this morning first thing and allowed you to hold
this stock today. It's mid-day and nothing is completed. I'm calling
Felix to discuss. Be available for a partner call in 15 minutes.”

Sir, it seems like you're trying to conceal your involvement in a
matter of fraud. Why?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Chair, that is completely beyond
the pale. It's completely false, and it's not true.

The article states very clearly that the Ghaoui Group had no con‐
tact with me, which is true, and Mr. Anderson indicated this is a
different Randy.

Mr. Barrett, your first name is Michael. Mr. Cooper's first name
is Michael. Are we to confuse your two identities here at committee
when you ask questions of me that are spurious in nature?

Mr. Michael Barrett: I look forward—

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: There's more than one Randy here
and no lawsuits—
● (1115)

Mr. Michael Barrett: Mr. Chair, I look forward to Mr. Boisson‐
nault being in opposition—

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Chair, I didn't have time to fin‐
ish my answer.

Mr. Michael Barrett: —and having the opportunity to—
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: He asked a very long question, Mr.

Chair.
Mr. Michael Barrett: —and having the opportunity—
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: He asked a very long question. I

have more seconds.
The Chair: I realize that, Minister.

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Go ahead.
Mr. Michael Barrett: There are other—
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Chair, I have time on the clock

to answer that question.
Mr. Michael Barrett: There are other texts as well that outline

how quickly you wanted this wire transfer to go through, and—
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Barrett, that is not me, and you

cannot state that for the record. It is simply not true, Mr. Chair. That
is not true, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Just hang on a second.

Look, I thought I made my expectation very clear at the begin‐
ning that questions will be asked and time will be given to respond.

I am going to Mr. Barrett.

Minister, please don't intervene. I'm going to ask the same of the
questioners as well.

Mr. Barrett, go ahead. You have a minute and 12 seconds, sir.
Mr. Michael Barrett: Like the lack of respect for procedure at

committee, we've seen the same lack of adherence to ethics rules.
The minister talked about Canada's stringent ethics rules. His gov‐
ernment, of course, including Prime Minister Justin Trudeau, has
twice been found guilty of breaking those laws. That's why we have
questions about alleged law breaking by our witness, by the minis‐
ter.

The company has been trying to get the money back, the compa‐
ny that was defrauded of $500,000 from your business. Where did
the money from the—

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Chair, it is—
Mr. Michael Barrett: Chair.
Mr. Larry Brock (Brantford—Brant, CPC): I have a point of

order, Chair.
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: He is not stating facts and I cannot

let falsehoods go, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: He didn't finish his question. You're going to have

ample opportunity to answer.
Mr. Michael Barrett: Thirty seconds was the length of my ques‐

tion.
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I know you're protecting his clips,

Mr. Chair, but he is stating falsehoods.
The Chair: No, I'm not. I'm not actually, Mr. Boissonnault. I'm

actually—
Mr. Michael Barrett: We have a corrupt minister from a corrupt

government.

Some hon. members: Oh, oh!
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: That's not true.
The Chair: Ask your question.
Mr. Larry Brock: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: That is simply beyond the pale. Mr.

Chair, that is outrageous behaviour by that member.
The Chair: Mr. Barrett—
Mr. Larry Brock: Can I have my time? I've asked for two points

of order.
The Chair: I'm going to you on your point of order.

Go ahead, Mr. Brock.
Mr. Larry Brock: I have never in my almost three years of pub‐

lic service seen such disrespect of a minister—
Mr. Anthony Housefather (Mount Royal, Lib.): I have a point

of order.
Mr. Larry Brock: —for the procedures here at committee.

Mr. Anthony Housefather: I have a point of order.

Mr. Larry Brock: He's constantly talking over the witness, and
now he's talking over the chair.

The Chair: I have a point of order.
Mr. Larry Brock: It is conduct unbecoming.
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The Chair: I have your point of order, Mr. Brock. I appreciate
that.

Mr. Barrett, you were at 34 seconds in your intervention, so I'm
going to ask you to ask your question and—

Mr. Anthony Housefather: I have a point of order.
The Chair: I'm sorry. Go ahead, Mr. Housefather, on your point

of order.
Mr. Anthony Housefather: Mr. Chair, referring to someone as

corrupt is unparliamentary. I would ask that you order it be with‐
drawn.

The Chair: I'm sorry. You'd ask that I order it what?
Mr. Anthony Housefather: I would ask that you ask Mr. Barrett

to withdraw those comments. It is unparliamentary to refer to
someone as corrupt.

The Chair: Mr. Barrett, I am going to ask that you withdraw
those comments, please.

Mr. Michael Barrett: Alleged corruption by a corrupt govern‐
ment.

The Chair: Okay. Thank you, Mr. Barrett.
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: That was not a withdrawal, Mr.

Chair. That was a doubling down.
The Chair: We have a point of order from Monsieur Villemure.

[Translation]
Mr. René Villemure (Trois-Rivières, BQ): Thank you very

much, Mr. Chair.

All members of the committee agreed to hear from Mr. Boisson‐
nault so that he could explain the situation. However, for the mo‐
ment, I can't understand what's being said because everyone is talk‐
ing at the same time.

The Chair: That's what I said earlier.
[English]

I don't want this to descend into a point where everybody's talk‐
ing over each other. I'm going to enforce that. I have been enforcing
it, but I'm going to enforce it from this point forward. Otherwise,
we'll be wasting our time here and we won't be able to ask the ques‐
tions we want.

Mr. Barrett, you have 34 seconds. Do you have a question for
Mr. Boissonnault? I want to give him an equal amount of time.

Mr. Michael Barrett: Through you, Chair, we'll give the minis‐
ter an opportunity for transparency, for a first.

Minister, will you provide this committee a copy of the letter no‐
tifying in writing that you wanted to be removed as a director from
this company? Further, will you provide any financial records relat‐
ed to this company?

Will you provide them to the committee?
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Chair, there is a well-established

practice done by the Ethics Commissioner that every single mem‐
ber around this table has to go through. The standards are higher for
parliamentary secretaries and ministers. I have followed that pro‐

cess to the letter. All of those documents were provided to the com‐
missioner of ethics.

Mr. Chair, the Ethics Commissioner sent me and Mr. Barrett a
letter indicating that there was no need. He took the decision that
there was no need to look into my business affairs and no need to
evaluate them. I have followed the rule to the letter.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Boissonnault and Mr. Barrett.

Ms. Damoff, you have six minutes. Go ahead, please.

Ms. Pam Damoff (Oakville North—Burlington, Lib.): Thank
you, Chair.

Before I start, I have a point of order.

Mr. Cooper has just called me disgusting. I would ask that he
please remove that. It's not appropriate.

The Chair: I'm sorry. I was dealing with other issues.

Mr. Larry Brock: I have a point of order.

Mr. Damien Kurek (Battle River—Crowfoot, CPC): I have a
point of order as well.

The Chair: I didn't hear it, Ms. Damoff. I'm sorry.

Ms. Pam Damoff: He's done it twice, Chair.

The Chair: I didn't hear it. I apologize.

Mr. Larry Brock: On a point of order, Mr. Chair, those who live
in glass houses should be very careful about throwing stones.

● (1120)

The Chair: That's not a point of order, Mr. Brock.

Mr. Larry Brock: It is, because Ms. Damoff used the very same
language towards my colleague Mr. Cooper. I heard it very clearly
on more than one occasion, Chair.

The Chair: The chair did not hear it, because I was obviously
busy dealing with some other issues.

Ms. Damoff, I will ask that you continue for six minutes.

Ms. Pam Damoff: Thank you, Chair.

Mr. Michael Barrett: I have a point of order, Chair, before Ms.
Damoff starts so that I don't interrupt her time.

The Chair: Go ahead on your point of order, Mr. Barrett.

Mr. Michael Barrett: It's a practice at other committees, and
this one in the past, that when a request for documents is made,
there's confirmation by the clerk to the witness that the informa‐
tion's been requested.

Is the committee to understand that the witness will provide the
documents that were requested to the committee or not?

The Chair: Mr. Boissonnault, will you provide those documents
that have been requested by Mr. Barrett?
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Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Chair, I was very clear in my
answer. Any documents related to my affairs as a private citizen be‐
fore becoming a public office holder have been provided to the
Ethics Commissioner and his team. They have looked at those doc‐
uments. The Ethics Commissioner has concluded that there is no
need to evaluate my business affairs.
[Translation]

Full stop.
[English]

The Chair: Okay.

If the committee feels compelled to request those documents,
you can do so when you have the floor, Mr. Barrett.

Go ahead, please, Ms. Damoff.
Ms. Pam Damoff: Thank you, Chair.

On May 7, CSIS reported that disinformation is the biggest threat
to Canadians, and more than 84% of Canadians are somewhat con‐
cerned with this issue. I'm really disheartened that the Conserva‐
tives would prefer to go on a witch hunt against a minister of the
Crown versus continuing and finishing our study on misinformation
and disinformation.

Mr. Boissonnault, when you become a minister, is the procedure
involved with documentation the same as it is for a member of Par‐
liament? I would note that none of the opposition members have
ever had to complete the documentation. As a parliamentary secre‐
tary, I have. I know that it's quite extensive.

Could you maybe discuss that?
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Absolutely, Ms. Damoff.

When you become a public office holder, as you have experi‐
enced, there's a much different approach from just sending in your
annual report as a member of Parliament. There are financial docu‐
ments. Your partner, your spouse, your significant other, your com‐
mon-law partner—they get scoped into the process. It is an intense
process so that you comply by the 120-day mark.

In my case, we had to figure out what to do with one holding
company, one active business. I got advice from the commissioner
of ethics that I needed to have a third party. I went all through that.

I think the other thing that's really important, Ms. Damoff, is that
it's my financials. It's investments. It's everything related to my per‐
sonal life. It's the personal finances of my life and my partner's life
that the commissioner gets to see. I don't think any of us would
want to be poking our noses in other people's personal financial
business. We have a different system. We have one of the strictest
ethics regimes in the world.

The other thing I'll say, before you get to your next question, is
that it's not just a one-time thing. It's a continual process. I have to
constantly decide and make sure that we're complying with the act.
I recuse myself from nominations and appointments all the time so
that I stay on the right side of the act.

Ms. Pam Damoff: You have to file the reports annually. In addi‐
tion, as part of the conditions when you file those reports, you can't
have any knowledge of what's going on. I recall that I couldn't even

hold shares. I had to move any stocks I owned into a blind trust
or—

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Absolutely.

Ms. Pam Damoff: —have mutual funds, and this needs to be
filed annually.

To imply that you are somehow still involved would indicate that
you've contravened the act, yet the commissioner has gone through
your documents and has vetted them and said no, that you didn't. Is
that not correct?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: That is absolutely correct. The com‐
missioner has said there is no need to evaluate my business affairs.

Ms. Pam Damoff: I want to ask you a personal question, Minis‐
ter Boissonnault.

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Sure.

Ms. Pam Damoff: When the Conservatives go on these witch
hunts and say things like “you're corrupt”, call you “disgusting” or
say that you're “part of a corrupt government”, what impact does
that have on you and your family?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I can tell you that we've had people
parked outside of my house for six weeks with a threatening vehi‐
cle that switches out every three to four days to comply with by‐
laws. Then, whatever Pierre Poilievre says in the House of Com‐
mons gets written all over those windows. My partner didn't sign
up for that and neither did anybody on my block. It comes directly
from the anger and the fear that the Conservative Party is spreading
in this country.

I can tell you, Ms. Damoff, that it breaks my heart that you have
made the choice that you have made to no longer serve your com‐
munity and our country, because you are a phenomenal parliamen‐
tarian and an amazing parliamentary secretary.

When truth, reason and facts leave this place, it damages democ‐
racy. The decisions made by people around this table have life-al‐
tering consequences for people who do not put their name on a bal‐
lot.

I do not think that everybody around this table treats Canadians
with the respect and care that they should when they become a
member of Parliament.

● (1125)

Ms. Pam Damoff: Do you think Canadians expect more of
members of Parliament? There are only 338 of us here. I consider it
a great privilege to be serving the constituents of Oakville North—
Burlington, and when colleagues start accusing others of lying,
which is in essence what happened during the previous testimony
and when, despite your answers, you were being contradicted by
Mr. Barrett, do you think that it behooves us to behave in a more
respectful way to one another?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I think at another time and another
place with a different Conservative Party, a letter from the Ethics
Commissioner clearing a member of Parliament, regardless of par‐
ty, would have been enough to move on to committee business.
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I don't know what's happened at this committee that it is em‐
broiled in partisan attacks and can't get to its own business, but it is
a sad day when that's the case.

I can tell you, Pam, what people say to me at their doors. They
say, “Whether you're a member of Parliament, a member of the leg‐
islative assembly, a councillor or a school trustee, we elect you all
to get along and to get stuff done for us, and game playing and
name-calling are not what we want to see.” I was at doors last
weekend, and I heard it again.

We can all hold ourselves to a higher standard, and I hope that
we get there in this committee and across government.

Ms. Pam Damoff: I will say that, in the past, I used to find that
committees were the one place where collaboration would take
place and where we were able to accomplish, I would say, really
great things. We have a study on misinformation and disinforma‐
tion that I think could be helpful for Canadians. Instead, this com‐
mittee regularly gets deadlocked on the latest gotcha moment, and
it's unfortunate that we're stuck in the mud because of accusations.

I thank you for being here today, Minister.
The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Damoff.

Thank you, Mr. Boissonnault.
[Translation]

Mr. Villemure, you have the floor for six minutes.
Mr. René Villemure: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Minister, thank you for being with us today.

My constituents in Trois‑Rivières are familiar with my back‐
ground as an ethicist and often ask me questions about this commit‐
tee's work. Some of them were interested in your being here today.
They were troubled. They asked me to tell them what was going on
and to give them some clarification.

Take two of my six minutes and tell me that story. What brings
us here today?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: That's a very good question,
Mr. Villemure.

I think part of it has to do with what Ms. Damoff said, which is
that some Conservatives want to make clips for social media.

I was elected in Edmonton Centre in 2015. Then, in 2019, I
didn't win the election, but I got my seat back in 2021. During my
two years as a private citizen, I relaunched the company I founded
in 1999 to earn a living. In fact, it was in the middle of a pandemic.
I was alone in my office, and I rebuilt my network to work with
people on various projects. In particular, I worked in Bolivia for the
Westminster Foundation for Democracy, to help that country re‐
build its democratic institutions properly. I also worked with an or‐
ganization in Thailand that wanted to help LGBTQ+ people have
more space in civil society.

I also founded the Global Equality Caucus. This is of profound
importance to me, because as a gay man and a gay parliamentarian,
when I went to international events, I sought to meet with people
like me to have discussions about how to move projects forward for

our community, but there were no international fairs, so with a
member of the House of Lords and a senator from Colombia, we
created this international network.

In short, when I regained my seat, since I had agreements and
clients, the Ethics Commissioner and his team said that I had to
shelter this and that I had to entrust the management of my affairs
to a third party. I appointed that third party, and I was always up
front with the commissioner about the fact that Ms. Poon was regis‐
tered as a lobbyist. I had known her for 10 or 12 years, so I had a
great deal of confidence in her. That's why I appointed her the di‐
rector of my businesses, which means that she sends documents to
the Canada Revenue Agency every year. I submitted all the infor‐
mation to the Ethics Commissioner, who said there was no reason
to look into my affairs.

The question is, why are we here today? In my opinion, it's be‐
cause the Conservatives are trying to pick a fight and want my seat.
They're here to try to belittle me, but I'll participate in the next elec‐
tion campaign, and I'll keep my seat because I serve my con‐
stituents with integrity as a responsible member of Parliament.

● (1130)

Mr. René Villemure: Thank you very much.

You've just touched on the subject of my second question, which
is why we're here this morning, but I'll add something.

I heard my colleague's questions earlier, which were quite vitri‐
olic. Why are you here this morning, and why is there so much
hate?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I think the Conservative Party today
feels threatened by all the changes we're seeing here in Canada and
elsewhere in the world. The Conservatives can't control these
changes, and they're angry. That creates a certain rage within that
party and a certain desire to diminish institutions and do harm to
our country.

The Conservative Party Leader said that the charter's notwith‐
standing clause could apply to human rights. Is it my rights that are
going to be circumvented? Will it be your rights as a francophone?
Will it be the rights of trans people or the rights of indigenous peo‐
ple? What does he want to apply the notwithstanding clause to?

It boggles my mind that the Conservative Party today is so en‐
raged by things it can't control, such as climate change, which it de‐
nies exists. Instead of looking for solutions to problems that we can
see, such as forest fires, it wants to deny the reality and return to a
country that no longer exists.

For all these reasons, I think the Conservatives are going to use
every means at their disposal to win seats, and I'm going to prevent
them from doing so in Edmonton Centre.

Mr. René Villemure: At least it's clear.

I have two last questions for you, in closing.

First, what am I going to say to my constituents in Trois‑Rivières
to summarize our exchange with you in one sentence?
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Hon. Randy Boissonnault: You can tell them that I followed all
the rules.

Mr. René Villemure: It's as simple as that, okay.

From your point of view, is there anything that could be im‐
proved on the Ethics Commissioner's side of things, to avoid this
kind of situation, apart from the aspect that was mentioned earlier?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Villemure, you have a doctorate
in ethics, if I'm not mistaken. You're one of the people who suggest
studies to this committee. We have one of the best systems in the
world, although it can always be improved.

I think we have to explain our system to Quebeckers and Canadi‐
ans so that they can understand the level of scrutiny with which the
Ethics Commissioner examines our personal files. I think it would
go a long way to reassuring Canadians that we have a robust system
here in Canada.

Mr. René Villemure: In your opinion, then, the system has
worked well.

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I reacted according to the current
system, and it's up to the committee to determine whether it wants
to suggest other changes to our system.

I can tell you that I've always followed the rules. I worked close‐
ly with the Conflict of Interest and Ethics Commissioner and his
team.

That's why I was able to answer your question, which was very
clear, that Minister Boissonnault followed all the rules.

Mr. René Villemure: You followed the letter and the spirit of
the rule.

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Absolutely. If we want to encourage
people to get involved in democracy, I think it's important that they
know there are systems in place to separate privacy from public af‐
fairs. I make sure every day that I'm on the right side of the law.

Mr. René Villemure: Thank you very much, Mr. Boissonnault.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Boissonnault and Mr. Villemure.

The next speaker will be Mr. Green.

You have the floor for six minutes.
[English]

Mr. Matthew Green (Hamilton Centre, NDP): Thank you.

Minister Boissonnault, the time between your last elected posi‐
tion and your most recent election was how long?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I was elected in 2015. I lost the
2019 election, and I won the 2021 election.

Mr. Matthew Green: In two years, you created a company that
was essentially a consultancy. Is that correct?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: No. I had a consultancy from about
1999 until the time that I was first elected in 2015, when I made
sure that the company—

Mr. Matthew Green: In your two years, what was the nature of
the business that you created here?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I didn't create a new business, Mr.
Green. I simply restarted my business, Xennex, which is a manage‐

ment consultancy. As I indicated to Mr. Villemure, I had many
clients, and my forte, if you can use that—

Mr. Matthew Green: What experience did you have in procure‐
ment and PPE?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: With respect to that company, which
I have no more work to do with, we were at the time of a pandemic,
and we were at the time of a great call—

Mr. Matthew Green: What experience did you have prior to this
procurement that involved PPE and procurement?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: With 15 years in business, Mr.
Green, I was able to make sure that we had products supplied to my
community. I had 15 years in business. This was a decision to start
a business. There were tens of thousands of businesses that started
up during the pandemic to help our country and our community,
and this business was one of them.
● (1135)

Mr. Matthew Green: You got into procurement to take advan‐
tage of the opportunities that were presented in COVID and per‐
haps your relationship with the Liberal government.

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I wouldn't say that.
Mr. Larry Brock: I have a point of order, Chair.
The Chair: Mr. Boissonnault, Mr. Green was in the middle of

his intervention asking a question.
Mr. Matthew Green: Thank you.
The Chair: I'm going to ask that you let him finish, and you'll be

given an equal amount of time to respond.

Mr. Green, go ahead. I did stop your clock.
Mr. Matthew Green: In your earlier testimony, you stated that

the Ghaoui Group had no contact.

The article states in reference to the text that they mention a
Randy. It is stated in this article that has been referenced, to refute
the Conservatives' claims, that it was “Ghaoui's understanding that
Anderson was referring to Boissonnault, whom Anderson had told
her was a partner at GHI and a public official, a representative of
Ghaoui Group wrote in a statement.”

There's an obvious contradiction here that is public. While it is
true that you may want to appear before this committee and act as
though this is simply a Conservative witch hunt, I would tell you
that from my perspective as a New Democrat, this doesn't pass the
sniff test. Please explain this very obvious contradiction between
your testimony and what is being stated here.

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Thanks, Mr. Green.

Mr. Chair, through you to Mr. Green, there are some baseless
comments in your intervention. Let me just be really clear. I had
nothing to do with the Ghaoui Group. I have no ongoing role in this
company, and I haven't since I was elected.

The article itself, and I'll repeat, says, “We have had no direct
communication with Mr. Boissonnault at any point in our dealings
with Stephen and the companies.” That's from the Ghaoui Group.
Mr. Anderson confirmed in the article that I am not the Randy in
question.
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I would also say that, you know, you put words in my mouth and
said “take advantage”. I never said that, nor did I say the W-word,
because I'm very careful to use that word. I am here to answer
questions, as the ethics committee has asked me to.

Mr. Matthew Green: Sir, listen. That's all great, but you're pro‐
viding contradictory testimony. The nature of your dealings with a
business model that you have no previous experience with, given
the size and the scope of the procurement, raises questions for the
average Canadian. It raises questions for an objective person look‐
ing at this deal when, in your own testimony, you're stating that
you're not even aware of who the owner is. Who is the other
Randy?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Green, I stated this earlier to Mr.
Barrett. I do not know the name of this person. I have no opera‐
tional role in that company. I do not have any line of sight into who
operates the company, and I would not be able to because of the
very strict rules in ethics. I will state very clearly that I had 15 years
of business experience with the clients—

Mr. Matthew Green: Okay. I'll state very clearly, sir, that you
decided—

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: —and I was able to translate that in‐
to something to help the community.

Mr. Matthew Green: —to list Kirsten Poon's company as
2050877 Alberta Ltd. on your disclosure forms and not include the
trade name of the Navis Group. That, to me, sir, no matter how
much you want to obfuscate, looks like an omission that is inten‐
tional.

Would you agree that receiving direct payments from a registered
lobbyist would appear to show a conflict of interest?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Green, there are two things
there.

When I was a private citizen, I worked with a numbered compa‐
ny that, after I was elected, changed its trade name to the Navis
Group. Moreover, I was required to use the legal name of the com‐
pany in my ethics disclosure forms; that was a directive issued by
the commissioner's team. When I first did my disclosure with the
Ethics Commissioner, as I explained to Ms. Damoff, the company
that I was aware of was still the numbered company. I wasn't aware
of the name change.

Mr. Matthew Green: Mr. Boissonnault, I've operated a business
myself, sir, and in these types of disclosures, you would put an “op‐
erating as” to give disclosure about the nature of the company so it
could be cross-referenced against procurement.

Why then have a deferred payment arrangement made? How
long will you be receiving payments from the Navis Group?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Green, just to be clear, it was
stated in a response to Global News by the Conflict of Interest and
Ethics Commissioner that they required me to use the numbered
company, not the operating name. When I worked with that num‐
bered company, it did not have an “operating as”; it was simply a
numbered company.

● (1140)

Mr. Matthew Green: I filled out those sheets too. You could put
in the section “operating as”. It's just a matter of whether you want
to be forthcoming or not.

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Chair, I think I've answered this
question, and it was a requirement—

The Chair: Give a very quick response.
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: —to use the numbered company.

I have provided all information regarding my financial affairs
and my business affairs to the Ethics Commissioner, who has said
there's no need to look into my affairs.

The Chair: Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Green.

That completes round one.

We're going to go to the five-minute rounds and then two and a
half and two and a half.

Just as a reminder, there will be equal time for the question and
for the answer. I don't want people interrupting each other. Wait un‐
til the question is asked and wait until the answer is given. If I have
to intervene I will in order to move things along.

Mr. Cooper, you have five minutes.
Mr. Michael Cooper (St. Albert—Edmonton, CPC): Thank

you, Mr. Chair.

Minister Boissonnault, you held the title of partner at GHI before
you were elected. Is that correct?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I actually can't remember that, but
partner was the title I used while I was operating the company.

Mr. Michael Cooper: Thank you for confirming that.

GHI is not exactly a big operation. There was you, there was An‐
derson, and there were a few employees. Is that correct?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: That is correct.
Mr. Michael Cooper: Then who was the other Randy?
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I do not know who the other Randy

was. They were somebody who was hired after I was, but I do not
know—

Mr. Michael Cooper: Thank you.

You claimed—
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I do not know who that person is,

Mr. Chair.
The Chair: It was four seconds and four seconds.

Mr. Cooper, go ahead.
Mr. Michael Cooper: You have a 50% stake in the company.

There are only a handful of people there. You presently have a 50%
stake in GHI, and you mean to tell me you have no idea, out of a
handful of people, if it is not you, who the other Randy is. Are you
serious?

The Chair: You have 20 seconds. Go ahead, Minister.
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Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I have had no operational involve‐
ment in this company since I was elected. The company has hired
and probably let go of people since I was there. I am not allowed to
know about the operation of this company, Mr. Cooper, because it
is not permitted by the Ethics Commissioner, and so I followed all
the rules.

Mr. Michael Cooper: Minister, thank you for that.

Minister, that is nonsense, and you know it.

I'm going to go to the text—
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: It's not nonsense, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Chair, that is not a fair statement. It's not nonsense. It is the
truth.

The Chair: Let him finish, please, Mr. Boissonnault.

Go ahead, Mr. Cooper.
Mr. Michael Cooper: Minister, your answer simply doesn't add

up. There's more to it than that, because if it's some other Randy,
then why did the Ghaoui Group believe that the Randy referenced
in the text messages was you? Why?

The Chair: You have 15 seconds, Minister.
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Chair, it would be inappropriate

for me to have anything to do with operational matters. I stepped
away from the company in the fall of 2022. Of course I don't know
who the employees are. In the article today, it says that I am not—

Mr. Michael Cooper: Why is it, Minister—
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: —that Randy.
Mr. Michael Cooper: It doesn't add up. It doesn't.
The Chair: He has three seconds.

Go ahead, Minister.
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I am not the Randy in this article,

Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Go ahead, Mr. Cooper.
Mr. Michael Cooper: It doesn't add up, Minister. If it's not you,

how is it that Global News couldn't verify who the Randy was? An‐
derson said there was some other Randy in charge of logistics, but
when Global News looked into it, they found that the guy who held
himself out as responsible for logistics is one Edward Anderson,
not a Randy.

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Cooper, I have no operational
relationship to that company, and so the matters of staff are not in
my purview.

Let me state again, for the record, from this morning's article,
from the Ghaoui Group, “We have had no direct communication
with Mr. Boissonnault at any point in our dealings with Stephen
and the companies,” and Mr. Anderson has said that that Randy is
not me.

I have not received any communication from—
The Chair: Mr. Cooper, go ahead.
Mr. Michael Cooper: Through you, Mr. Chair, Minister, in

looking at the text message from Randy to Anderson, it states it's

15:14 eastern standard time. This is a text to someone who is in Al‐
berta in a text message about a client in California.

What is 15:14 eastern time? Well, it happens to be the time zone
of Ottawa. Is that just another coincidence, Randy?

The Chair: Go ahead.

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I have no idea, because I did not re‐
ceive those texts, and I have no operational relationship to this
company. It's a time zone—

Mr. Michael Cooper: Would he be available for—

The Chair: Mr. Cooper, just let him respond, please.

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: It's a time zone in a text that I have
nothing to do with. Mr. Anderson has said that's not me. Mr.
Ghaoui—

Mr. Michael Cooper: Well, it's another piece that doesn't add
up.

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Chair, I am now being interrupt‐
ed.

The Chair: Mr. Cooper, he has eight seconds. Let him respond,
please.

Go ahead, Mr. Boissonnault.

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I am not the Randy in question. Mr. Anderson has indicated that
I'm not the Randy in question, and the Ghaoui Group has said
they've had no communication with me.

The Chair: Mr. Cooper, go ahead.

Mr. Michael Cooper: Not only is it eastern time, Ottawa, but it
also says to “be available in 15 for a partner call.”

You said you had previously been a partner. Is it just another co‐
incidence? Is it just another Randy?

● (1145)

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: The operational word in your state‐
ment, Mr. Cooper, is “previously”. I ceased to be an officer and a
director of GHI in October 2021, full stop.

The Chair: Mr. Cooper, go ahead. You have 25 seconds.

Mr. Michael Cooper: Minister, Ghaoui Group thinks it's you.
Global News can't track down who the other Randy is. The Randy
who's texting happens to be referencing eastern time. You happen
to be a member of Parliament serving a lot of your time in Ottawa.
You said you were a partner. The text message references a partner.
This is a small operation. You have a 50% stake, and the fact that
you can't identify who the other Randy is doesn't pass the smell
test. If there isn't another Randy—

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Cooper.

Mr. Michael Cooper: —then you, sir, broke the law.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Cooper.
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Hon. Randy Boissonnault: May I respond, Mr. Chair?
The Chair: It's the end of the time. You can respond in the next

round.

Mr. Fisher, go ahead for five minutes.
Mr. Darren Fisher (Dartmouth—Cole Harbour, Lib.): Can I

start with a point of order?

You're out of order, Mr. Cooper. You can't make comments like
that.

The Chair: That's not a point of order.

Mr. Fisher, you have five minutes.

Go ahead, please. Start your intervention.
Mr. Darren Fisher: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, Minister, for being here.

All MPs—backbench MPs, opposition MPs, parliamentary secre‐
taries and ministers—have forms that they need to fill out for the
Ethics Commissioner. Can you talk about what is required of a min‐
ister? You've been a PS as well. Talk about the strict requirements
of a minister.

You talked, in your opening statement, of taking the necessary
steps under the Conflict of Interest Act. You talked about some of
those steps. I tried really hard to pay attention and follow, but there
were so many interruptions. I'm going to ask you if you could out‐
line.... I've never been a minister, and probably never will be a min‐
ister, but I'd like to know a little bit about that higher level of scruti‐
ny you undergo, which, perhaps I and other members of this com‐
mittee don't.

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I appreciate that, Mr. Fisher. The
scrutiny is intense. You have 120 days to comply from the start, and
if as a minister you have stocks, you have to sell them. If your life
partner has stocks, you have to sell them. You can only hold mutual
funds, and you have to make sure that there's no operational con‐
nection between you and any businesses or non-profit associations
that you would have operated at some point.

In my case, it was not just to make sure that everything was com‐
pliant with the act in the first 120 days. When you're a minister,
compliance isn't an end point; it's a fluid process. What's important
to note is that I have made the decision, rightly, to recuse myself on
appointments and nominations. I've always been very careful to
make sure that I respect the rules that are set up by the Ethics Com‐
missioner, and he himself has said that I followed the rules, and
there's no need to look into my business affairs.

Mr. Darren Fisher: Thank you, Minister, and I appreciate the
clarity that you've provided through that statement.

You've probably heard of the news about Conservative MP Bran‐
den Leslie crafting and circulating a fake-news video online. You're
an interruption today into our misinformation, disinformation, mal‐
information study, which I had found as a new member of this com‐
mittee to be absolutely super interesting. Notwithstanding the fact
that—

The Chair: Mr. Fisher, I've stopped your clock there.

I'm going to remind you that a majority of the committee voted
to have Mr. Boissonnault here as part of this study, so it's not an in‐
terruption of anything. This was a decision of the committee. He is
here, as the Conflict of Interest and Ethics Commissioner will be,
because a motion was passed by this committee.

I just wanted to clarify that for you.

Thank you.
Mr. Darren Fisher: Thank you for the clarification, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Boissonnault, in my remaining time, is there anything else
you would like to put on the record?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I'll restate that I'm not a lobbyist.
I've never been a lobbyist. I never registered as a lobbyist, because
I never wanted to be a lobbyist.

To your other question, Mr. Fisher, I hope the committee will be
able to get back to the business at hand. I'm happy to appear here so
people understand the Ethics Commissioner asked me for informa‐
tion; I provided that information and the Ethics Commissioner said
there was no need to look into my business affairs.

Mr. Darren Fisher: Thank you very much.

Mr. Chair, with respect to calling relevance on me in this particu‐
lar instance when there has been very little call for relevance for
many members of this committee recently, I take some umbrage
with that.
● (1150)

The Chair: You can. I was clearly explaining and reminding you
that it was a matter of relevance. It is a matter of fact that a motion
was passed by this committee.

You still have a minute and 38 seconds.

Okay.

[Translation]

Mr. Fortin, you have the floor for two and a half minutes.
Mr. Rhéal Éloi Fortin (Rivière-du-Nord, BQ): Thank you,

Mr. Chair.

Good afternoon, Mr. Boissonnault.

I've been listening to the questions for some time. The Ethics
Commissioner told you that there was no problem with your state‐
ments and that there was no need to investigate further. That's what
you told us. However, have you had discussions with the Commis‐
sioner of Lobbying?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: To the first question, the answer is
yes. It is confirmed. The Ethics Commissioner has indicated that he
doesn't need to look into my personal affairs.

As far as the Commissioner of Lobbying is concerned, I haven't
received any communication from her because I'm following the
rules.

I was a parliamentary secretary during my first term, so my
five‑year period isn't over.
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I never wanted to be a lobbyist, I never registered as a lobbyist,
and I never have been one. I haven't received anything from the
lobbying commissioner.

Mr. Rhéal Éloi Fortin: I understand and accept your statement
that you never wanted to be a lobbyist. However, that doesn't prove
that you've never contravened lobbying rules, even if unintentional‐
ly, so my question is whether you made a request to the Commis‐
sioner of Lobbying to check, given the activities you've carried out
between your two mandates, whether your situation posed a prob‐
lem.

Have you done any more digging on that with the lobbying com‐
missioner?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Since I was parliamentary secretary,
I always followed the rules that applied to me. There was no need
to confirm that I had followed the rules, since I had followed them.

Mr. Rhéal Éloi Fortin: I believe Ms. Poon is registered as a lob‐
byist.

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Correct.
Mr. Rhéal Éloi Fortin: Did she discuss with you whether or not

your activities could contravene any of the provisions of the Lobby‐
ing Act?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I always made it clear to her and to
any other client that I would never arrange a meeting with a mem‐
ber of the government or assist anyone in holding a meeting with a
federal agent or representative.

Therefore, I never did.
Mr. Rhéal Éloi Fortin: Your company was involved in discus‐

sions around the Calgary airport, I believe. Correct me if I'm
wrong.

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: It was the one in Edmonton.
Mr. Rhéal Éloi Fortin: Were you personally involved in those

activities? Did you take any steps?
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I never attended any meetings be‐

tween representatives of the Edmonton International Airport and
the federal government.

Mr. Rhéal Éloi Fortin: Thank you.
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I never set up a meeting with the

federal government about this airport—
The Chair: Thank you.
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: —because it would have been a

breach of my responsibilities—
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Boissonnault.

[English]

Mr. Green, go ahead for two and a half minutes.
Mr. Matthew Green: Minister, when was the last time you had a

conversation with Kirsten Poon?
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: It was earlier this week. We are

friends. We've known each other for 15 years.
Mr. Matthew Green: You chat. How frequently would you sug‐

gest you are in communication with Ms. Poon?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Depending on the time of year or
what's going on in our friend circle, we would communicate a cou‐
ple of times a month, perhaps, if not more.

Mr. Matthew Green: Ms. Poon is a registered lobbyist.

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: She is no longer a registered lobby‐
ist. My understanding is that she ceased to be a lobbyist in June
2022.

Mr. Matthew Green: You received payments from her prior to
that.

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: That is not true. What happened is
that, for work that I did while I was a private citizen, we made sure
that all of the dealings that I had as a private citizen were provided
to the Ethics Commissioner—

Mr. Matthew Green: When was the last payment you received
from Ms. Poon?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Green, you know there's a pro‐
cess for that, and that information is with the Ethics Commissioner.
The Ethics Commissioner indicated—

Mr. Matthew Green: Are you refusing to answer a basic ques‐
tion, Randy, that would help provide some light on this topic?

When was the last time you received money from her?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: No monies were received by any
company that I'm responsible for from Ms. Poon in 2024.

● (1155)

Mr. Matthew Green: That wasn't the question I asked. When
was the last time you received money? Was it 2023 or 2022? When
was it?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Green, that matter is with the
conflict of interest commission. I provided everything to them, and
the Ethics Commissioner has said that there's no need to look into
my affairs.

Mr. Matthew Green: Well, that's great. We'll talk to him next
and certainly look at the loopholes that are in that.

Why did you decide to have a deferred payment arrangement?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Green, that is a relationship that
was done while I was a private citizen. I shared all of that informa‐
tion with the Ethics Commissioner. The Ethics Commissioner has
made it very clear that I have not—

Mr. Matthew Green: Did you not receive money while you
were a private citizen?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: —that there's no need to look into
my business affairs.

Mr. Matthew Green: Did you not receive payment while you
were a private citizen?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I received income as a private citi‐
zen while I was making a living as a business person, yes.

Mr. Matthew Green: At some point you decided on a deferral
agreement. When did you make that decision?
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Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Green, that information has
been provided to the Ethics Commissioner. The Ethics Commis‐
sioner has looked at my business affairs and said there's no need to
look into them.

Mr. Michael Barrett: I have a point of order, Chair.
Mr. Matthew Green: Has the CRA?
The Chair: Hold on, Mr. Green. I've stopped the clock.

I have a point of order from Mr. Barrett.
Mr. Michael Barrett: Does the procedure committee not require

that a witness answer a question?

Not knowing the answer to a question or providing an answer
that isn't satisfactory to the member asking are not open to debate;
however, refusing to answer a question of a parliamentarian at com‐
mittee is and has been found to be a contempt of the right of the
parliamentarian who has put the question.

Therefore, Chair, on a refusal to answer a question, it is a fact
that this is not permissible. I put to you, Chair, that the minister is
refusing to answer a member's question—

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Chair, I am not refusing to an‐
swer any question.

Mr. Michael Barrett: —and that's not acceptable.
The Chair: Yes, Mr. Barrett, we dealt with this with Mr. Wer‐

nick. When he was here, I clearly stated that the expectation of the
committee is that the witnesses will provide answers to the ques‐
tions.

I'm going to leave it to Mr. Green, in the very short period that he
has left, to conclude this round, and then we're going to go to other
rounds here.

Mr. Ron McKinnon (Coquitlam—Port Coquitlam, Lib.): On
the same point of order, Chair—

The Chair: The expectation is that the minister will answer, and
then it'll be up to the committee to decide. If they're not satisfied
with those answers, then they can take action, Mr. Barrett.

Mr. Ron McKinnon: I'd like to speak on the same point of or‐
der.

The Chair: I'm sorry, Mr. Green. We have another point of or‐
der.

Go ahead, Mr. McKinnon.
Mr. Ron McKinnon: Mr. Chair, I would like to comment that

the minister has not refused to answer any questions. He's given an‐
swers—

The Chair: That's debate, Mr. McKinnon.
Mr. Ron McKinnon: I'm responding to the point of order. The

allegation is false. He's given answers. They just don't like the an‐
swers.

The Chair: I appreciate that. Thank you.
Mr. Matthew Green: On the point of order, sir....

The Chair: Mr. Green, go ahead on the point of order.

Mr. Matthew Green: Given that I'm part of the topic of the
point of order, I reserve the right to also submit to you, sir, that he

has refused to provide answers to this committee. He's done it on
multiple occasions in two minutes and 23 seconds. I would like to
say that this is what I would consider to be a breach of the powers
of this committee.

I would suggest to you that nobody, whether a parliamentary sec‐
retary or a cabinet minister, is above the procedures of a standing
committee. That is why he's here before us, Mr. Chair.

I would ask, through you, on this point of order that the member
provide in writing—and he can refer to the Hansard for the subject
of the questions that I've asked him—a response, sir, and failing to
do so puts him in breach, in my opinion, of the Standing Orders and
powers of this committee.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Green.

On that, I am going to ask the clerk on your behalf, sir, to review
the Hansard and to submit the questions that have been asked of
Mr. Boissonnault and have him respond to the committee.

Madam Clerk, just make a note of the time on that.

Mr. Matthew Green: How much time do I have left in my
round?

The Chair: You have 15 seconds by my clock, but—

Mr. Matthew Green: Okay. I'll take the 15 seconds.

The Chair: I ask that you continue, sir. Go ahead.

Mr. Matthew Green: With my 15 seconds left I will say that, in
the opening remarks, the minister suggested that this is somehow a
Conservative witch hunt. I share with you that, as a New Democrat
and someone responsible for—

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Chair, I said no such thing.

Mr. Matthew Green: As a person on this ethics committee and a
proud New Democrat, I share that this is not the case, and I just say,
Randy, that your testimony today has not helped you out.

Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Green.

I am going to limit it to three-minute interventions at this point,
and I apologize to the committee for that. We're going to Mr.
Brock, followed by Mr. Housefather, and that will conclude the
time we have. That will take us to 12:06, which is roughly the
time...we started, not taking into account many of the interruptions
we had.

Mr. Brock, I give you three minutes. Go ahead, sir.

Mr. Larry Brock: Thank you, Chair.

With respect, Minister, I share MP Green's latter comments that
your testimony has not been helpful. In fact, not only are you disre‐
spectful, you are exhibiting traits that, in my old career, I would
classify as a lying witness. You've been evasive—
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● (1200)

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: That's not appropriate, Mr. Chair.
Mr. Larry Brock: Well, it is.
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: That's not parliamentary language.
The Chair: I suggest, Mr. Brock, that you not use that language.
Mr. Larry Brock: You have the inability to tell the straight facts

and to tell the straight goods, Minister. There lacks the ring of truth
in what you have to say.

Mr. Ron McKinnon: I have a point of order.
The Chair: Go ahead on your point of order, Mr. McKinnon.
Mr. Ron McKinnon: Mr. Brock's language is definitely unpar‐

liamentary. He needs to withdraw it, and he needs to apologize.
Mr. Larry Brock: I'm not withdrawing, Chair.
The Chair: He used a different context. I'm going to allow him

to do it and ask him to continue.

You have a couple of minutes, Mr. Brock. Go ahead.
Ms. Pam Damoff: I'm sorry, but on the same point of order—
The Chair: Go ahead, Ms. Damoff, on the same point of order.
Ms. Pam Damoff: —I've heard in the House, many times, the

Speaker say that you can't say indirectly what you can't say directly,
and that is exactly what Mr. Brock just did. We cannot call each
other liars or...providing untruths to Parliament.

The Chair: I appreciate that. I think Mr. Brock understands your
point of order.

I ask him to continue for the next couple of minutes.
Mr. Larry Brock: Canadians are watching. They pay particular

attention every time a minister appears at committee. What you've
done, sir, is just displayed a complete lack of respect for policies
and procedures at this committee, leaving aside the evasiveness of
your responses and, clearly, the lack of ring of truth, as I've indicat‐
ed.

On the issue of what was reported this morning on Global News,
did you take it upon yourself to reach out to your former partner
and ask for clarification as to who this other Randy was?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Brock, on that particular point, I
have no operational role—

Mr. Larry Brock: Yes or no, sir, did you reach out?

I have three minutes.
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I have seconds to respond to your—
Mr. Larry Brock: Sir, I have three minutes—
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Chair, I believe—
Mr. Darren Fisher: I have a point of order.
The Chair: Mr. Brock, just allow the minister to respond to the

question. I know we're on short timelines here, but please allow Mr.
Boissonnault to respond to that.

Go ahead.
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Chair, I have no operational role

in that company. I am not the Randy in the article today.

Let me give you an example, Mr. Chair. I don't know why Mr.
Brock received income from the Province of Ontario while he's
been serving as an MP, but I assume he cleared that with the Ethics
Commissioner in the same way that I cleared my—

The Chair: Mr. Boissonnault....

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: —business dealings with the Ethics
Commissioner, and no investigation or evaluation of my business
affairs will take place.

The Chair: Thank you.

Mr. Brock, go ahead.

Mr. Darren Fisher: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

The question that Mr. Brock asked was well over a minute, and
the response was 25 to 30 seconds—

Mr. Larry Brock: No, there was a preamble. It was a yes or no
question.

The Chair: Well, I think he concluded.

Go ahead, Mr. Brock.

Mr. Larry Brock: I ask again, Minister. You're laughing at the
whole process, but Canadians are not laughing and they're not sid‐
ing with you. Did you reach out to Mr. Anderson this morning after
you read the Global News report, yes or no?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I am not the Randy in that report.
The article—

Mr. Larry Brock: Did you call Mr. Anderson?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: No. Why would I call Mr. Ander‐
son? I would not. No. Under the ethics—

Ms. Pam Damoff: I have a point of order, Chair.

Mr. Larry Brock: Clearly Mr. Anderson didn't want to provide
the surname of Randy.

The Chair: Mr. Brock, the answer—

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Chair, I gave the answer.

The Chair: Mr. Brock, he said no.

Do you have a point of order, Ms. Damoff?

Ms. Pam Damoff: Yes, I do, Chair.

The Chair: Go ahead.

Ms. Pam Damoff: Out of respect for our interpreters, people are
interrupting and it keeps happening—

The Chair: I agree.

Ms. Pam Damoff: —and it's so unfair to the people who work
so hard for us.
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The Chair: Okay. Thank you.
Ms. Pam Damoff: Could we please just knock it off?
The Chair: Yes, and I've made that very clear.

Go ahead, Mr. Brock. You have literally 20 seconds, sir.
Mr. Larry Brock: Minister, will you provide to this committee

details of your text messages for all of the phones that were in oper‐
ation on September 22, 2022, so that this committee can determine
if you are in fact the Randy the text messages are referring to, the
Randy who the other partner wants to communicate with?

Will you reach out to your service provider and provide us with
details of your text messages on that day from all of your devices?
Answer yes or no.

The Chair: Minister, give a quick response, please.
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Mr. Chair, I have no operational role

in this company. I do not know who this Randy is. It is not me, and
it's clear in the article that it's not me.

The Chair: Thank you, sir.

I'm going to take that as a request from Mr. Brock. Again, I'm
going to ask the clerk to follow up on that request.

Mr. Ron McKinnon: On a point of order, I would like to ob‐
serve that a request from a member is not the same as a request
from the committee.

The Chair: We can follow up and ask. If Mr. Boissonnault de‐
cides to submit to the request from Mr. Brock, he's capable of doing
that. If he doesn't, it's up to the committee to determine which di‐
rection it's going to go on this, and that could include moving a mo‐
tion on the matter. We can make the request. It's up to Mr. Boisson‐
nault to submit to the request or not.

Mr. Housefather, you have three minutes. Go ahead, sir.
● (1205)

Mr. Anthony Housefather: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Minister Boissonnault, do you know what the 28th most popular
boy's name was in 1956?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I do not.
Mr. Anthony Housefather: Randy. Do you know how many

Randys were born that year?
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: I do not.
Mr. Anthony Housefather: There were 28,000.
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: That's a lot of Randys.
Mr. Anthony Housefather: It is a lot of Randys.

Can I ask a question about your business? You were a business‐
man at a time when you were not in politics. When you earn in‐
come, does it always come all at once?

For example, let's say you set up a client and enter into a contract
with a client. They buy goods, and they've committed to buy goods
over a period of two years.

Would it not be normal that a salesperson or anybody who nego‐
tiated that agreement is paid over that extended period, whether or

not they remained with the company, given that they were part of
that initial agreement?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: That would be reasonable.
Mr. Anthony Housefather: All of these bombshells we've heard

today about how there was a text message from somebody named
Randy in Canada.... It's shocking. The idea that somebody could be
paid deferred income because they were part of a company—they
negotiated a deal and left the company—seems shocking to me.

Is this as shocking to you as it is to me?
Hon. Randy Boissonnault: After 20-some years in business, it's

not shocking. It is a customary practice. The reason it's important
that we have a really strong ethics regime is so that a third party
neutral arbiter can look into those matters and make sure that they
comply with the act.

That is exactly what I did. That is why the Ethics Commissioner
said there was no need to look into my affairs.

Mr. Anthony Housefather: That's understandable.

The question came up here.... I totally understand we're in pride
month. Can I ask you, briefly, how it made you feel when a mem‐
ber of Parliament earlier this week said he would vote against gay
marriage?

Hon. Randy Boissonnault: Thankfully, we're in a different time
and a different place, where gay marriage is real. I can tell you that
when that happened, it was one of the happiest days of my life. I
ran in part because I could see the country changing, but I come
from a province that still struggles with recognizing 2SLGBTQI
people, and we have a long way to go.

This Conservative Party is not clear on the record as to how it
would support trans people, gender non-binary people and
LGBTQI people, and I have grave concerns that a future Conserva‐
tive government under Pierre Poilievre would suspend my rights
using the notwithstanding clause in the charter.

Mr. Anthony Housefather: Thank you.

Mr. Chair, I yield my time.
The Chair: Okay. Thank you, Mr. Housefather.

That concludes our first panel for today.

Minister, I want to thank you for taking the time to appear before
the committee.

I'm going to suspend while we switch over and have the Conflict
of Interest and Ethics Commissioner appear before us.

The meeting is suspended. Thank you.
● (1205)

_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1210)

The Chair: We're going to resume now.

Our next panel is from the Office of the Conflict of Interest and
Ethics Commissioner.
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I would like to welcome the commissioner, Konrad von Fincken‐
stein, and also Lyne Robinson-Dalpé, director of advisory and com‐
pliance.

Commissioner, the floor is yours for up to five minutes.

Go ahead, sir.

[Translation]
Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein (Commissioner, Office of the

Conflict of Interest and Ethics Commissioner): Thank you very
much, Mr. Chair.

Thank you for inviting me.

With me today is my colleague Lyne Robinson‑Dalpé.

As we join you today, I recognize the weight of responsibility en‐
trusted upon our Office of the Conflict of Interest and Ethics Com‐
missioner and the work of this committee. Our democracy relies
fundamentally on the integrity and transparency of its elected and
appointed officials and our ability to safeguard public trust.
● (1215)

[English]

It is with these principles in mind that I see the twofold purpose
of the regimes we administer. One is to help public officials avoid
and manage their conflicts of interest and the second is to facilitate
the movement of qualified people in and out of the public service.

Qualified, competent, experienced people who are called to pub‐
lic service may well face conflicts of interest. That's not unusual.
The issue is how to avoid and manage those conflicts and to protect
the integrity of officials and the institutions they serve.

[Translation]

Minister Boissonnault is an example of someone who has moved
in and out of public service, and back again. Upon his first election
as a member of Parliament in 2015, he complied with the Conflict
of Interest Code for Members of the House of Commons. He also
complied with the Conflict of Interest Act when later appointed as
parliamentary secretary.

[English]

Between 2019 and 2021, when he was not an elected or an ap‐
pointed official, he resumed work with Xennex Venture Catalysts
Inc., which I'll call Xennex hereafter. It's a company that was incor‐
porated in 2000 of which he owns 100% of the shares. It is a man‐
agement consulting company that gained a contract to lobby on be‐
half of the Edmonton Regional Airports Authority.

The minister resigned as director of Xennex when he was re-
elected and again became subject to the code as a member and sub‐
ject to the act as a minister.

Kirsten Poon became the director of Xennex and continued to
lobby in the Xennex name on behalf of the Edmonton Regional
Airports Authority until June 21. After that day, the lobbying was
done in her own company's name, 2050877 Alberta Ltd., operating
under the name of Navis.

Minister Boissonnault received no remuneration from Xennex
after being elected and appointed minister. However, he disclosed
to us that he was owed an outstanding business income from Navis.
That amount was subsequently paid by Navis to Xennex.

Minister Boissonnault has 100% interest in 2256956 Alberta
Limited. It in turn owns 50% of an affiliated company called Glob‐
al Health Imports. His ownership of Xennex, his ownership of
2256956 Alberta Limited and his indirect partial ownership of
Global Health Imports were all disclosed to my office. There is no
disclosed evidence that the ownership of these companies creates
any conflict of interest. He complied with the rules under the act
and the code.

[Translation]

Considering the information that the minister has disclosed to the
Office of the Conflict of Interest and Ethics Commissioner, it ap‐
pears he has complied with the requirements of the Conflict of In‐
terest Code for Members of the House of Commons and the Con‐
flict of Interest Act related to matters involving his companies and
consequently there is no need to commence an examination.

We are in the process of the usual annual review process with the
minister and will be looking at all his updated disclosures with the
office.

[English]

Both Ms. Robinson-Dalpé and I are here to answer any questions
you may have regarding the compliance process of the work and
how we handled the file of Mr. Boissonnault.

Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, Commissioner.

We're going to start with our first round.

Just for the benefit of committee, I did say I was going to leave a
little bit of time at the end to discuss the question that was brought
up at the beginning of the meeting by Mr. Bains. I am going to give
us enough time to discuss it.

Mr. Barrett, you have six minutes. Go ahead.

Mr. Michael Barrett: This morning there were revelations in a
Global News article that Minister Randy Boissonnault may have
been party to what's been described by some as wire fraud to the
tune of half a million dollars as it relates to his business partner, Mr.
Stephen Anderson. Text messages included in the media report de‐
tailed someone named Randy who was not pleased with the delay
of this half-a-million-dollar wire transfer with a company out of
California. In the text messages, Randy demands “a partner call”
with Stephen Anderson.

Minister Randy Boissonnault has said today that he wholly owns
a company that owns 50% of GHI. Mr. Anderson, to his knowl‐
edge, owns the other half. Minister Boissonnault contends that he is
not the Randy involved in these text messages.
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Having made a pronouncement, following a complaint, that you
weren't going to pursue an investigation, does the emergence of
new information, generally—and does the information in this arti‐
cle today, if you've read it—give rise to a re-examination of your
decision? Finally, have you reviewed the allegations that were re‐
ported in the media this morning?
● (1220)

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Mr. Barrett, like you, I read the
story this morning for the very first time. It's complete news to me.
I never knew anything about it. It obviously raises some serious im‐
plications, if the story is true. You heard what the minister said.

The ruling that we made was based on the information that he
disclosed to us, which was with regard to GHI, that he owned 50%
through his numbered company.

Clearly, we will look into this. If our looking into it shows that
there's more to it, that there is substance to it, that there may be
contraventions of either the act or the policy act, then, of course, we
will have to look. I have the capacity to self-initiate another inquiry
and look into it.

At this point in time, I am really caught by surprise. I didn't
know about it until I read it this morning. I don't know what to say.
I heard the minister's testimony. I think it would be absolutely irre‐
sponsible to make a premature decision as to what we're going to
do and how. All I can tell you is that we will look into it.

Mr. Michael Barrett: I think that's entirely fair, sir. It was new
information. Just like you, we prepare for committee based on the
information that we have. Finding that information or those allega‐
tions two hours in advance creates a challenging environment.

You expressed that the allegations in it were serious and new. Is
it correct to understand that Minister Boissonnault didn't previously
disclose that circumstance to you, that you will be investigating
these new allegations and that, if necessary, you would self-initiate
an investigation?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: As I said in my opening state‐
ment, we made our ruling on the basis of the information disclosed
to us. He disclosed to us that he owned 50% of GHI through his
numbered company. That's all we know about GHI.

All of this now is what GHI did, who was involved, who actually
ran it, who this Randy is who is being mentioned, did he actually
do..., etc. To all of this news, all I can do is say that we will look
into it. I cannot make a decision on any of that because I really
have nothing more than the report, which you have, too, from Glob‐
al News and the testimony that you heard this morning from the
minister.

Mr. Michael Barrett: I appreciate that response.

I want to ask a quick question on another subject, if I may.

The Auditor General released a report this morning. I'm not sure
if your office gets those as well. In it there were 90 instances of
undisclosed conflicts of interest and 96 instances of disclosed con‐
flicts of interest. The 90 instances of undisclosed conflicts of inter‐
est are in matters of $76 million being handed out by individuals
who were appointed by the NDP-Liberal government.

Are you aware of this finding by the Auditor General?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: No, of course not. She makes
her findings public today. She is under confidentiality provisions
and obligations, the same as I am.

As you know, I undertook to give a ruling on the conflict of in‐
terest of Madam Verschuren and Mr. Ouimet before August 1, and I
will do so. Clearly, we will deal with conflict of interest there.

I don't know what these conflicts of interest are that she refers to.
I haven't read the report, either. I'm like you. This morning it came
out, and I managed to read the executive summary.

I really don't want to speak any further about it, because maybe
there's something in the report that will illuminate some of these
points.

It's very troubling to hear that there have been that many con‐
flicts of interest. Obviously, that's an area that concerns us primari‐
ly. She is more or less, as the Auditor General, looking at the whole
operation and—

● (1225)

The Chair: Thank you, Commissioner.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: —the effects, the value for
money, etc. There's a different focus that she has from what we
have.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Barrett and Commissioner.

Mr. Housefather, I have you for six minutes. Go ahead, sir.

Mr. Anthony Housefather: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Commissioner, thank you for being here, as always.

Do you remember anything momentous that happened on
September 8, 2022, Commissioner?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: No, I'm sorry.

Mr. Anthony Housefather: It was striking to me, because I was
reading this text that was ostensibly sent on September 8, 2022,
from somebody named Randy. It was at 13:14 MST and 15:14 EST.
We all know the rest of the text.

Something struck me that the date was very familiar. I looked
back, and I remembered that was the date when Queen Elizabeth II
died. Then I remembered that it was the date when there was a cab‐
inet retreat in Vancouver, because all of the members of cabinet
were wondering what they could wear and whether they had black
or not in their wardrobes.

One of the things that everybody was earlier pointing out in this
text was about eastern standard time. Mr. Boissonnault, on Septem‐
ber 8, 2022, was in Vancouver on Pacific standard time and busy in
a cabinet retreat. The idea that he was leaving a cabinet retreat to
deal with an issue like this strikes me as even more fanciful.
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Commissioner, you would acknowledge, I'm sure, that this is
something, as you said, that you're going to look into. The fact that
there's a text from somebody ostensibly named Randy doesn't im‐
mediately lead you to a conclusion that this Randy is Minister Bois‐
sonnault, does it?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I deal with facts, not with alle‐
gations, assumptions or conjectures, etc.

I don't know who the author of this article is or what knowledge
she has of the facts. When we look into it, we will state the facts as
we find them.

Mr. Anthony Housefather: Thank you, Commissioner.

I think that's exactly the right way to do it rather than conducting
meetings that make allegations with no basic knowledge of what
happened.

You apply the ethics guidelines. I know as a parliamentary secre‐
tary that I fill out forms. I work with your office and so do minis‐
ters. You will ask questions when you believe something on our
forms is not exact or is not detailed enough. You will then form
your own conclusions. Is that correct?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Absolutely. As you know, each
one of you gets appointed a personal counsellor who then looks at
your disclosures. They ask questions and try to make sure that
they're understandable, that everything is there, that nothing is left
out and nothing is overlooked. They basically guide you to make a
complete disclosure. It's an ongoing process.

You basically have an ongoing conversation with that person, es‐
pecially since you also have the obligation to update the informa‐
tion should there be a change. Hopefully, through that relationship
between the counsellor and the elected or appointed official, we
make sure that all relevant facts are presented to the extent that the
law requires it. They will be disclosed and put on the public record.

Mr. Anthony Housefather: I agree.

I find that iterative conversation with the counsellor is incredibly
helpful in making sure that, on both sides, there's clarity, and you
avoid ever having a conflict or being perceived to have a conflict.

One of the things that's been raised is the issue of monies being
allegedly paid from a company to the minister after the fact of as‐
suming cabinet. You are, of course, familiar with the concept of
closing a deal while you're with a company and thereafter obtaining
money that was due under the initial contract, even though you're
not working any longer for the company.

Is that something that's a process that's understood under the act,
recognized and could be worked through with the counsellor?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: If there is a payment that, in ef‐
fect, you earned prior to being elected and it has not been paid, that
becomes an outstanding debt, which you're entitled to collect, and
it's not in violation of any part of the act.

Mr. Anthony Housefather: Sometimes that time is uncertain,
because it's based on actual sales being made after the fact.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Maybe a certain event has to
happen or a certain thing has to be achieved before the amount be‐
comes due. Still if that amount or event happens subsequent to your

election, it still becomes, at that point in time, in effect an outstand‐
ing debt, which you're entitled to collect.

● (1230)

Mr. Anthony Housefather: There are a lot of things here. You
can use words to distort the actual facts of what happened and make
things look bad when actually they're perfectly normal and covered
under the disclosure reforms and the ethics act. Unfortunately, I
think this is one of those cases in which there's an attempt to make
something look unkosher when it actually may very well be kosher.
I trust you, Commissioner, to be the right person to look at that.

Thank you very much.

If you have anything else to say, that's fine. Otherwise I'll turn
the time back.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Thank you.

The Chair: Commissioner, we have 40 seconds. Do you have
anything you want to add to that?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: No. All I can say is that the doc‐
umentation that was disclosed to us shows that there is an outstand‐
ing amount owed to Mr. Boissonnault for works that he conducted
prior to being elected, and that was being paid to his company sub‐
sequent to his election.

The Chair: Okay.

Thank you, Commissioner.

Again, for the benefit of members, the lights were going off. It
wasn't a vote. It was a quorum call. We just checked on that.

[Translation]

Mr. Fortin, you have the floor for six minutes.

Mr. Rhéal Éloi Fortin: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Commissioner, I would like to thank you and Ms. Robin‐
son‑Dalpé for being with us today.

I heard your testimony and that of Mr. Boissonnault. So I under‐
stand that you studied his statement and that everything seemed to
be in order. I also understand that you were surprised, as were all of
us here, to read this morning's article.

I agree with you that it's too soon to comment on this article, and
the office will have to check the facts before commenting on it, I
imagine. My questions will be more general and will deal with the
commissioner's work.

We, as parliamentarians, are often very demanding of the Ethics
Commissioner when it comes to statements or situations related to
members of the government. I think we're right to be demanding. I
also think that someone who sits as a member of the government
must behave and act ethically beyond a reasonable doubt. I also be‐
lieve that your reputation is excellent, and that you do an impecca‐
ble job in this area.
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That said, I would like to know whether you think the tools you
currently have are sufficient to conduct reliable audits, or whether
the Conflict of Interest Act should be improved to help you do
more adequate research on the various issues submitted to you.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I believe that the tools we have
to conduct investigations, to determine the actual situation or to
force the disclosure of the information that's necessary for our in‐
vestigations are sufficient.

As you know, we can launch an investigation. We can ask people
to come and testify. We have the power to require that it be done
under oath.

Not only can we have the main witness testify under oath, but we
can also demand it of the other people who are involved. I think we
can really get all the facts that are needed. The act is a bit old. It's
30 years old and has been modernized very little. It has some provi‐
sions that are a bit difficult to enforce, but the powers to investigate
are adequate.

Mr. Rhéal Éloi Fortin: Your tools are adequate, but do you
think the level of reliability that we require is adequate as well? Do
you sometimes get the impression that we ask you to go too far in
your investigations or, on the contrary, that we should ask you to
dig deeper?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: We have to start with what our
goal is.

As I said before, our goal is not to find culprits. In fact, we try to
facilitate interactions between the public and private domains. Any‐
one could have conflicts of interest. Generally speaking, people
who are elected or appointed are experienced. It's likely that they've
made investments and know a lot of people, and so on. Our job is to
help those people find solutions to ensure that they declare what
needs to be declared, or sell what they can't keep, or put it in a spe‐
cial system, for example.

If there are doubts, if someone raises allegations because there
seems to be something hidden, then I have the power to begin an
investigation, and I have the necessary tools to understand what
happened. If there is a violation, I will expose it to the general pub‐
lic. It will be up to the Prime Minister or the Speaker of the House
of Commons to act, if necessary. We only investigate when some‐
thing doesn't look right. Our main activity is to help elected or ap‐
pointed individuals avoid a conflict of interest.
● (1235)

Mr. Rhéal Éloi Fortin: As far as this mission is concerned, I un‐
derstand that the level of reliability or research you're being asked
for seems adequate to you.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Yes, absolutely.
Mr. Rhéal Éloi Fortin: During the execution of your mandate,

not only in the case of Mr. Boissonnault, but in any other case, did
you at any time have the impression that you were being pressured
or that certain individuals, members of the government or others,
were trying to influence you in some way?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: There was no pressure put on
me or my office. Generally speaking, people respect the neutrality
of our office. What we do is strictly confidential and objective. To
my knowledge, no one has ever tried to influence our objectivity.

Mr. Rhéal Éloi Fortin: Mr. von Finckenstein, thank you for an‐
swering my questions in French. It's remarkable, and I appreciate it.
It's a great sign of respect.

Thank you, Mr. von Finckenstein.

The Chair: The commissioner is indeed able to speak French.
We agree with that as well, Mr. Fortin.

[English]

Mr. Green, you have six minutes. Go ahead.

Mr. Matthew Green: Thank you.

Mr. Commissioner, first of all, were you able to watch the last
round of questioning?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Yes.

Mr. Matthew Green: With Mr. Boissonnault here?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Yes.

Mr. Matthew Green: Do you recall my exchange with him
about the listing of companies, the numbered company versus the
“operating as”?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Yes. You asked him to do that,
and I understand he undertook to furnish such a list.

Mr. Matthew Green: Well, we hope he will.

When disclosures are made, what are the requirements? If a com‐
pany is a numbered company, is it required to disclose who it's op‐
erating as in order to provide public disclosure?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: The disclosure is very simple.
You can own a company. You can have an interest in it. That's no
problem. You can't run a company if you're elected and you're ap‐
pointed minister.

Mr. Matthew Green: The purpose of the disclosure, if I could,
sir, is to identify to the public who the beneficial owners are of
companies. It is my suggestion that numbered companies that do
not actually list who they're operating as obscures the beneficial
ownership, does it not?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Why is a numbered company
obscuring official ownership any more than a non-numbered com‐
pany? I'm sorry. I don't get your point.

Mr. Matthew Green: For instance, if there's a numbered compa‐
ny operating as the Navis Group, and the Navis Group is the one
who's listed as the contractors, but on the disclosures it only shows
the numbered company, then an average person would assume, ob‐
jectively, that they couldn't make the connection between the num‐
bered company and the operating company, the new named operat‐
ing company.

● (1240)

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: The disclosure is not made for
the average person, first of all. It's made for the office. Only the
portions that have to be disclosed and put on the public record will
be put on the public record.
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Obviously, if you have a numbered company that also operates
under a name, it would be appropriate to disclose both. If you don't
do that.... As I mentioned before, each person appointed gets a
counsellor to advise them. The counsellor will certainly ask you,
“You own 3509 Limited. Does this company operate under a trade
name or not?” Therefore, it would be disclosed.

Mr. Matthew Green: Is that part of the standard questions ad‐
visers provide to cabinet ministers?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I would hope so. I have 53 peo‐
ple working for me. I don't know whether they all do that, but they
should. Clearly, it—

Mr. Matthew Green: Could you please report back to this com‐
mittee, sir, on what questions are required for cabinet minister dis‐
closure?

I'll state this to you: It is a material non-disclosure to omit what
your operating name is when it comes to procurement. The crux of
a conflict of interest, as you and I have talked about many times,
sir, is not just the actual conflict but also the perceived conflict.
When there are instances where there is reporting that demonstrates
a cabinet minister is receiving contracts through a numbered com‐
pany in a deferred payment arrangement, when the actual procure‐
ment happens with an operating name other than the numbered
company, to me, sir, that would erode and undermine the public
trust when it comes to open and transparent procurement practices
related to companies connected to ministers.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: First of all, Lyne, do you want
to answer his question on what questions counsellors use regarding
numbered companies?

Ms. Lyne Robinson-Dalpé (Director, Advisory and Compli‐
ance, Office of the Conflict of Interest and Ethics Commission‐
er): Essentially, when the office is informed of a private company
or any other company, the requirement is to disclose the numbered
company, the registered company name or the corporation's legal
name, its trade name. It doesn't matter right now, at this present
time, whether they report one, both or strictly the numbered compa‐
ny. In those cases, we will go back to the reporting public office
holder and ask whether or not there is an operating name, whether
the company is operating under a legal name or another name. If
we have that name, we will make it public.

However, there is no requirement to disclose either the numbered
company or the operating company's name. One or the other is per‐
fectly acceptable under the act and under the code, as well.

Mr. Matthew Green: It's acceptable under the act and the code,
but I think it's fair to say, in this instance, that it presents a bit of a
problem in terms of public confidence related to the ability to track
procurement contracts that are material in nature. We're talking
about big contracts here.

Is it your recommendation that this committee recommend that
all disclosures of numbered companies include the operating and
trade names in order to provide greater transparency and account‐
ability to the public and office? Quite frankly, as was identified,
you can only investigate what is submitted to you. If you're submit‐
ted a numbered company and you're looking for contradictions or
conflicts within the act but don't know what the operating name is,

would that not provide a significant investigative gap in terms of
your ability to confirm or investigate any potential conflicts?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Mr. Green, I set the rules for
what the counsellors ask to clearly establish whether there is a
numbered company involved. There has to be a follow-up question
as to whether it has a trade name or not. If so, that has to be dis‐
closed. We are not trying to hide anything. I'm not trying to help
anybody hide anything. It's something we can easily—

Mr. Matthew Green: No, to be clear, that's not my assertion. I
am not suggesting that you—

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: No, I understand, but I want you
to understand—

The Chair: We're at the end of the time.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: —that you're talking about in‐
ternal procedures here, where something can very easily be
achieved.

The Chair: Okay. Thank you, sir.

Thank you, Mr. Green.

That concludes our first round. We're going to five-minute
rounds.

I'm going to start with Mr. Kurek.

Mr. Damien Kurek: Thanks very much, Commissioner, for
coming back to the committee.

One of the challenges we have here is that there are questions
about who this Randy is. You mentioned those questions. I know
that was certainly the conclusion of the last round. It is still an out‐
standing question. It seems to me that, in this question about who
Randy is, if the principals involved in this company, who exchange
accordingly, thought they were in fact referring to a minister of the
Crown, or even if that minister wasn't involved in it, and there was
benefit derived from that, are there some ethical challenges you
would have with that?

● (1245)

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: The task of the officer is to en‐
sure there's no conflict of interest and to help people avoid conflict
of interest. In the situation you mentioned, the question is: Is there a
conflict of interest here somewhere? There is this exchange using
the name Randy. Does that by itself create a conflict of interest?
No. If the Randy is the minister, and he is actually involved in run‐
ning a company, then, of course, it's a totally different issue.

Mr. Damien Kurek: If he benefited from the perception he was
the one who was passing along that message, would that constitute
a conflict?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: It's very difficult with all of
these hypotheticals. It depends very much on the facts. Without
having the total facts, I can't answer your question.

Mr. Damien Kurek: I appreciate that. I think that emphasizes
the fact that we need all the facts involved here, because there are
many outstanding questions.
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I'm just curious, Commissioner. Did you or your office have a
chance to review the deferred compensation agreement that Minis‐
ter Boissonnault received as a result of work he didn't do well as a
minister? Did your office have a chance to review that?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I don't think it was a deferred
compensation. It was for the amount of service he rendered for
which he had not been paid.

Lyne, do you know the details of this?
Ms. Lyne Robinson-Dalpé: I can only confirm that we saw the

information of what is owed from Navis to the numbered company,
but we did not review an agreement per se.

Mr. Damien Kurek: Okay. I appreciate that.

Thank you, Commissioner. I know you're always willing to come
before this committee, and I do appreciate that. It's appreciated. As
we get more facts, I know you and your office will be hard at work
looking at that information.

Mr. Chair, it's clear there is some outstanding information that is
required in order for us to be able to effectively evaluate this,
whether it's the question about who this Randy is or whether it's the
whole series of challenges associated with what this committee has
agreed to study here today. Therefore, I would like to move a mo‐
tion. I hope there would be support for what even the Liberals have
suggested we need, and that is to find out the facts.

Mr. Chair, I hope we can find agreement amongst this committee
for the following motion:

That, in light of today’s media reports and Minister Randy Boissonnault’s testi‐
mony, the Committee call on Stephen Anderson, Kirsten Poon, and representatives
of the Ghaoui Group to appear before the committee individually and testify forth‐
with for no less than one hour each on or before June 20th, and that the committee
seek additional resources to facilitate these meetings if needed.

Chair, I would just make a brief comment on the motion.
The Chair: Let me just stop you there.

Have you circulated the motion to the clerk, Mr. Kurek?
Mr. Damien Kurek: It's on its way.
The Chair: Okay.

The motion is in order.

I'll give you the floor for some brief comments.

I'm going to ask the clerk to circulate it as soon as she gets it.

Go ahead, Mr. Kurek.
Mr. Damien Kurek: Thanks very much, Chair.

I hope there's agreement because certainly what the Liberals
have suggested, while making some pretty outlandish accusations
about.... Quite frankly, I've never seen a minister be so partisan be‐
fore a committee as Minister Boissonnault was this morning, and
certainly there's concern about that.

You'll note in this motion, Chair, we are not calling back the min‐
ister. We want to get the facts. We want to ensure that Canadians
can find out exactly what happened. Certainly if there is further in‐
formation that requires the minister to be recalled, I would hope we
could find agreement amongst the committee. This is simply to fur‐

ther ensure that Canadians are in fact getting the answers that are
deserved when it comes to this matter. I know Mr. Green, as well,
had mentioned there's some follow-up needed, and I know the com‐
missioner is always very willing to work with this committee.

With that, Chair, I would simply conclude my remarks by hoping
that all members of this committee would support the simple re‐
quest to get to the bottom of the very clear and outstanding ques‐
tions that come about as a result of the discussion we've had here
today.

Thank you.

● (1250)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Kurek.

The motion has been moved.

I do see your hand, Mr. Green, and then I have Ms. Damoff's
hand.

Commissioner, I'm going to ask that you hang on for a few min‐
utes until we deal with this.

The motion is in English only.

I am going to suspend for a few minutes while we distribute that.

[Translation]

We'll distribute it in both official languages, Mr. Fortin.

I'll suspend the meeting for a few minutes.

● (1250)
_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1300)

[English]

The Chair: We are back from suspension.

I would just advise all members that the motion has been shared

[Translation]

in both official languages.

[English]

We have a motion that has been moved.

I'm going to advise the committee members as well, because I
know the question of resources came up, that we have until 1:30,
and that is a hard stop.

[Translation]

Mr. Fortin, do you have a point of order?

Mr. Rhéal Éloi Fortin: Actually, Mr. Chair, I would ask you to
suspend for five minutes so that I can discuss the motion with
Mr. Villemure, who isn't here right now.
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I think this is an important motion, and since we've just received
it, I would like to take the time to look at it with Mr. Villemure.

The Chair: We will suspend the meeting for five minutes. Then
we will begin debate on the motion.
● (1300)

_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1305)

[English]
The Chair: We are going to resume, having given time to look at

the motion. When we left, the motion had been moved by Mr.
Kurek. Everybody has the motion at this point. We are resuming
debate on the motion.

I have Mr. Green followed by Ms. Damoff.

Mr. Green, go ahead, sir.
Mr. Matthew Green: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

You'll note that in the past, as an opposition member of this com‐
mittee, I have supported deeper dives into government dealings. I
certainly support a greater inspection of what has happened here
and a better understanding, and a request for having these witness‐
es, to me, makes sense.

However, what I will tell you is that one of the biggest frustra‐
tions I've had with this committee, as has happened in the past, is
where you, sir, have booked meetings without consulting the other
parties, and I would reference the Bloc, the NDP or even the Liber‐
al side when it comes to the committee work.

While I'm supportive of this motion, what I'm not supportive of
is the caveat that says, “that the committee seek additional re‐
sources to facilitate these meetings if needed.” To me, having
learned from past mistakes, I'm going to go on the record and say
that I am no longer in support of a committee structure that allows a
chair or the official opposition to direct the course of our work
without consultations with the other parties.

For that reason, I'm going to amend this and I'm going to move
that, after it says, “forthwith for no less than”, we strike from there
forward and we put in “for one two-hour regularly scheduled meet‐
ing”. The reason I do that is I think we can have all of the witnesses
arrive, provide testimony with five-minute openings, have the abili‐
ty to question, examine and cross-examine, and only use one regu‐
larly scheduled meeting so we're not in a scenario where you all are
booking meetings, without consulting the other parties, at your con‐
venience and your will.

That is the amendment that I am moving. I'm in support of pursu‐
ing this, but I'm not going to just give you the ability to do it at your
own leisure or prioritization.

The Chair: Thank you for that, Mr. Green.

Just so that I'm clear, you're moving “for one two-hour regularly
scheduled meeting”, and I assume that you are keeping “before
June 20th”. Is that correct?

Mr. Matthew Green: I think, Mr. Chair, what needs to happen at
this committee is we need to have a subcommittee that plans work
in accordance with the courtesy of including the other parties on the

work schedule. If we have a subcommittee that plans the work, and
this is prioritized by way of a regular motion that is directed by
committee, then yes, it would be before that.

However, what I do not want to do is give you the ability to de‐
termine when that's going to be without consultation with us. I
would state the obvious, which is that we're 25 members in our cau‐
cus without the infinite resources that both the government and the
official opposition have, so we have to take our scheduling, our
timing and our staffing into account when we make commitments
for additional work.

This notion that when we don't concede to the whim of you as
the chair that we're somehow complicit in the cover-up is a cocka‐
mamie way of impugning what our work is here as New
Democrats. We even heard it today with these ridiculous references
of an NDP-Liberal government. I'm not on for that. However, what
I am on for is holding this government accountable, and what I am
on for is using the traditional courtesy of our committee to have a
planning committee that allows the committee to direct the work
and not just the Conservative Party, or you, sir, as chair.

The Chair: Thank you.

We do have an amendment.

Is there any discussion on the amendment?

Go ahead, Ms. Damoff, on the amendment.
Ms. Pam Damoff: Thank you, Chair.

I would just say that we have the commissioner here right now. I
know that it was very important to the committee that he be brought
before the committee to offer testimony, and instead we've been
sidetracked. He's already said that he's going to be looking into
what he read in the newspaper, and so I think we should let him do
his work. Therefore, I move to adjourn debate.
● (1310)

The Chair: We have a motion to adjourn debate on the proposed
amendment by Mr. Green. There's no discussion on adjourning the
debate on this motion, so I'll ask for consensus.

Is there consensus?

An hon member: No.

The Chair: Okay. We're going to go to a recorded vote.

Madam Clerk, on the motion by Ms. Damoff to adjourn debate,
go ahead, please.

(Motion agreed to: yeas 6; nays 4)

The Chair: The motion carries to adjourn debate, so we are ad‐
journing debate.

We're returning to our next line of questioning.

Mr. Kurek, your time was concluded.
Mr. Damien Kurek: I have a point of order, Chair.
The Chair: What's the point of order, Mr. Kurek?
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Mr. Damien Kurek: Just for clarification, does a motion to ad‐
journ debate on the amendment to the motion adjourn the entire de‐
bate on the motion—

The Chair: That's correct, sir.
Mr. Damien Kurek: —or simply the amendment that was being

debated?
The Chair: It is to adjourn debate on the entire motion, includ‐

ing the proposed amendment. Now, a member can resume debate at
any time in a future meeting when they have the floor on this mat‐
ter, and we would continue on the amendment as proposed by Mr.
Green. Then, of course, the floor would be open for interventions at
that point. Does that clear it up?

Okay. We're continuing again with the commissioner. I have Mr.
Bains for five minutes.

Just keep in mind we have until 1:30, and I'm going to need a lit‐
tle bit of time here for discussion on the issue that Mr. Bains
brought up at the beginning of the meeting.

Mr. Bains, go ahead.
Mr. Parm Bains: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Again, thank you for your patience, Commissioner. Director,
thank you for joining us today.

Can you please explain the difference between what a minister
has to disclose in their disclosures versus a member of Parliament?
Is there more scrutiny for either of them?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Yes, the member of Parliament
has to comply with the code that sets out what you can do and what
you can't do. A big exception, which we discussed at one point in
time, was sponsored travel. There's no prohibition against spon‐
sored travel for members of Parliament; however, once you become
a parliamentary secretary or minister, you have to live up to the act,
and the act specifies various things that you can and cannot do.

One of them is, for instance, that you cannot operate a company,
and you can't be involved in a company. You can own it, but you
can't operate it. Another one is extensive prohibitions against gifts.
They have controlled assets, what you may own or what you may
not own or what you have to put in line of trust.

It's a very complex set of regulations that is applied to what we
call reporting public office holders, i.e. ministers, secretaries of
state and OIC appointments. It's much more stringent, much more
limited, than for people who are elected to the House of Commons.
They obviously have to avoid conflicts of interest. They have to re‐
cuse themselves, etc., but there are all sorts of outside activities as a
member of Parliament you can do that you can't do as a minister.

Mr. Parm Bains: Do you believe that your office has done
enough to educate the members on the differences between what
rules are more stringent versus, say, an elected official?
● (1315)

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: We try to educate as much as
possible.

We just developed an online tool for members of Parliament.
Once you're elected, first of all, you get training from us. We are

asked to do that. Then there's an online tool that walks you through
the various possible situations and issues and how to resolve them,
etc. We don't have one yet for ministers or reporting officers, but
we're in the process of developing that tool.

We always think that the best way for people not to get into con‐
flict of interest is to be informed, to know what it is, etc. That's
why, for every single person who falls under the code now, we ap‐
point someone in our office. This is your contact. If you have any
issues, talk to that person. That person is there to help you. You can
always do more. It also depends on how much time people want to
spend on it. You're all very busy people, and you have a lot of other
things to do. Some of this is, frankly speaking, tedious. Some peo‐
ple say, “I know this.” Others say it's very peculiar and very new to
people. To the extent that people are willing to learn and be educat‐
ed, we provide as much as we can.

Mr. Parm Bains: Thank you, Commissioner.

I'm going to share the rest of my time with Ms. Damoff.

The Chair: You have a minute and 25 seconds, Ms. Damoff.

Ms. Pam Damoff: That's longer than I thought.

Commissioner, I wonder if you could talk briefly about how
much more rigorous the requirements are for ministers and parlia‐
mentary secretaries, not just on sponsored travel, but on the actual
form itself.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: The expert on the form sits be‐
side me, so go ahead, Lyne.

Ms. Lyne Robinson-Dalpé: Essentially, I would say that the
forms are pretty much identical between the MP code and the act.
Why? It's because we ask for information about assets, liabilities,
investments, companies and businesses. We ask about outside ac‐
tivities under both regimes; however, as the commissioner ex‐
plained, there are more stringent rules with regard to measures that
reporting public office holders, including ministers, will have to
abide by versus a member of Parliament.

Ms. Pam Damoff: These are things like not owning stocks. You
can own mutual funds, but you can't be actively involved in a com‐
pany. You can still be a part owner, but you have to put it in a blind
trust. Is that correct?

Ms. Lyne Robinson-Dalpé: That's correct. Those are measures
that are required under the Conflict of Interest Act.

Ms. Pam Damoff: Right.

Ms. Lyne Robinson-Dalpé: Reporting public office holders
must divest of their controlled assets. They also must step down
from any business.

Ms. Pam Damoff: I have only a few seconds left, so I'm going
to make a personal plea to the members of the Conservative Par‐
ty—

The Chair: You're out of time, Ms. Damoff.
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Ms. Pam Damoff: —to not put on social media to spam my of‐
fice—

The Chair: Ms. Damoff—
Ms. Pam Damoff: —because I moved to adjourn debate. It is a

personal plea to my colleagues.
The Chair: You're out of time, Ms. Damoff. Thank you.

[Translation]

Mr. Fortin, you have the floor for two and a half minutes.
Mr. Rhéal Éloi Fortin: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

The subject has already been covered, but I'm going to take the
liberty of coming back to make sure.

From what I understand, Mr. Commissioner, you're going to con‐
duct additional verifications on the alleged facts, which were pre‐
sented to us this morning, concerning Mr. Boissonnault's former
company. I believe it was Global News that put out that informa‐
tion. Is that correct?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: We'll look at those facts and de‐
termine whether or not an investigation is necessary.

Mr. Rhéal Éloi Fortin: Okay.

The debate on the motion that was tabled by our colleagues in
the Conservative Party was adjourned. I'm not going to decide that,
but I assume we'll come back to it at a future meeting. If so, we
may be interested in the results of the audits you are going to con‐
duct.

Do you have any idea how long it will take for your office to get
to the bottom of this?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: It's very difficult to give a pre‐
cise date, because I don't know all the facts, and there can be com‐
plications. After examining the facts, if we deem an inquiry to be
necessary, a whole process must then be initiated. Notify people,
give them time to prepare, and so on.

As you know, we have two ongoing investigations into two indi‐
viduals from Sustainable Development Technology Canada, or
SDTC, Ms. Verschuren and Mr. Ouimet. We launched those two in‐
vestigations three months ago, and we'll complete them in August.
Generally, an investigation of this kind takes a few months.
● (1320)

Mr. Rhéal Éloi Fortin: Am I to understand, then, that it would
be unrealistic to ask you to table a report before June 20?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I don't think that's possible.
Mr. Rhéal Éloi Fortin: Thank you, Mr. Commissioner.

I have no further questions, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Fortin and Mr. Commissioner.

[English]

Mr. Green, you have two and a half minutes. Go ahead, please.
Mr. Matthew Green: Thank you very much.

Mr. Commissioner, pursuant to subsection 27(1) of the Conflict
of Interest Act, public office holders must divest each of their con‐

trolled assets within 120 days after the day on which they were ap‐
pointed as a public office holder.

What does your office do to ensure this divestment has taken
place?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: We are in contact with the regis‐
tered public office holder. Let's assume we have identified certain
issues, such as things that have to be put in blind trust. We give
them the information. We tell them we will pay for the lawyer. We
will pay for the blind trust, but they have up to this date to do it.

If we do not get a response in a reasonable time, we will say,
“Look, you're already in day X or whatever, and there's only this
much time. Get on with it. Get it done.” We remind them and push
them slightly. Everybody is interested in complying. Nobody wants
to be offside of the requirements of the commissioner.

Mr. Matthew Green: What about the 120 days during which a
public office holder is still in possession of the controlled assets?
Do public office holders have to take any temporary measures to
avoid conflicts of interest during that period?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: If they are controlled assets, you
have to dispose of them or put them in a blind trust. Obviously, dur‐
ing that period of time, you don't deal with them. It goes without
saying. You have been appointed. We have identified these things.
We say, “These are controlled assets that you are not entitled to
hold. Get rid of them, or put them in a blind trust.” You're doing it.
If, in that period of time, you would be acting with them, you
would be acting, essentially, in bad faith.

Mr. Matthew Green: Just for the purpose of my very short time,
it's your testimony here today that, the moment somebody is ap‐
pointed as a public office holder, they cease to be able to have any
contact or control, despite the fact there's a 120-day window.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: No, that's not what I said at all.

What I said is that they have been appointed. We deal with them.
We identify. We deal with their disclosure and identify a certain as‐
set they are not allowed to hold.

You then have the choice of selling them or putting them in a
blind trust. From the moment we tell you that, I don't think you can
deal with them, because it has now been made clear. You know you
can't hold these and can't deal with them. You have up to the end of
120 days to either get rid of them or put them in a blind trust.
You're certainly not dealing with them in the meantime.

Mr. Matthew Green: If a deal was made during that time,
would that be in contravention?

The Chair: Give a very quick response, please.
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Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: It has never happened. I don't
suspect it to happen because why would you do that? You have just
been told by my office that these are things you shouldn't own, to
get rid of them or put them in a blind trust. If you're then dealing
with them, surely you're not acting in good faith.

The Chair: Thank you, sir.

Thank you, Mr. Green.

Mr. Commissioner and Ms. Robinson-Dalpé, on behalf of the
committee, I'd like to thank you for your appearance today. We ap‐
preciate the time that you've taken and we always appreciate the ex‐
pertise and the work that you do. I want to say thank you to your
staff as well, Mr. Commissioner.

Before we conclude, Mr. Bains brought up an issue at the begin‐
ning of the meeting regarding the question of privilege. I'm going
to remind the committee that it's not up to the committee to deter‐
mine whether a question of privilege happened. It's whether it
touches on a question of privilege. A motion was moved to report
this to the House. The motion that was presented is debatable and
amendable. We were in the middle of the debate last time.

The meeting was adjourned, which therefore means that the de‐
bate of the motion was adjourned as well.

There are several options. Obviously, I'm going to seek commit‐
tee guidance on this.

The first option is that a member can move a motion to continue
debate when they have the floor at the next meeting, at which point
the debate would resume if a majority of members decide to resume
debate.

The other option.... The plan, frankly, was to try to get to this re‐
port that we have, consideration of the draft report on the data col‐
lection technological tools, because I think it was the will of the
committee to have this presented before Parliament rises. We
haven't even started that at this point.

We can certainly go in that direction or we can resume debate on
the motion that was presented to report this to the House.

I'm seeking some feedback from committee members on where
they want to go in the next meeting.

Mr. Barrett, go ahead.
● (1325)

Mr. Michael Barrett: Chair, I would like to proceed with the
consideration of the draft report. However, at our last two meetings
where we attempted to do that, we were unsuccessful.

If the committee is going to be dealing with committee business,
I would like to deal with the business that Mr. Kurek put forward
today and debate was adjourned on it. I think there is interest from
members to consider that matter as well.

If we're just going to be looking at what committee business we
can be seized with, I think based on the bombshells that dropped to‐
day, I'd be very interested in pursuing debate on Mr. Kurek's mo‐
tion.

The Chair: I'm seeking guidance. I'm going to ask for quick in‐
terventions here because we do have a 1:30 hard stop.

We'll go to Mr. Fisher and then Mr. Brock.
Mr. Darren Fisher: I certainly don't want to speak for Mr.

Bains, but it was debated at length, mostly by the Conservatives.
I'm sure that we could deal with it in 10 minutes and bring it to a
vote. We could complete debate, bring it to a vote, and get it before
the House pretty darn quickly.

The Chair: Thank you.

Mr. Brock, go ahead.
Mr. Larry Brock: On the issue of committee business, I don't

want the committee to lose sight of the fact that we still need to
have a discussion on what to do with the RCMP documents and the
documents received from Mr. Wernick. That's been on our agenda
for a couple of weeks now and I'd like to get to that.

The Chair: All right. I appreciate the feedback.

I'm going to take it back with the clerk. We're going to provide a
notice of meeting probably by the end of today. I'm just going to
seek some guidance from the clerk.

That's all I have for today.

I want to wish everybody a great day.

The meeting is adjourned.
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